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1. OVERVIEW OF WAPP ORGANISATION

The West African Power Pool (WAPP) was created by Decision A/DEC.5/12/99 of the 22nd Summit of the
Authority of ECOWAS Heads of State and Government.

The Articles of Agreement for the establishment and functioning of WAPP was adopted by Decision
A/DEC.18/01/06 of the 29t Summit of the Authority of ECOWAS Heads of State and Government held in
Niamey, which also granted the WAPP Secretariat the status of a Specialized Institution of ECOWAS through
Decision A/DEC.20/01/06.

A Headquarters Agreement was signed between WAPP and the Government of the Republic of Benin on the
5t of July 2006, conferring on WAPP the diplomatic privileges and immunities required to operate effectively.
The headquarters of WAPP Secretariat is presently located at PK6, Zone des Ambassades, Akpakpa, Cotonou,
in Republic of Benin.

WAPP VISION: To integrate the operations of national power systems into a unified regional electricity market,
which will, over the medium to long term, ensure the citizens of ECOWAS Member States with a stable and
reliable electricity supply at competitive costs.

WAPP MISSION: To promote and develop infrastructure for power generation and transmission, as well as, to
assure the coordination of electric power exchanges between ECOWAS Member States.



MEMBERS: since the General Assembly held on November 08, 2019 in Abuja (Nigeria), the WAPP has 36
members including one observer member.

WAPP Member Utilities as at 31 December 2019
‘.
1 m Aksa Energy Company Ghana Ltd (Ghana) 19 | = . IMainstream Energy Solutions Limited (Nigeria)
’ £ . Limi
2 | OFFApR Energy (senegal) 20 | an National Water and Electricity Company Limited
(The Gambia)
3 CH CENIT Energy Limited (Ghana) 21 ¥ North South Power Company Ltd (Nigeria)
4 s/ CenPOWER Generation Company Limited (Ghana) | 22 Northern Electricity Distribution Company Ltd
(Ghana)
Ry : ) T '
5 % Communauté Electrique du Bénin (Togo, Benin) 23 ) Office National de I'Electricité et de I'Eau Potable
du Maroc (Morocco)
6 N Compagnie Energie Electrique de Togo (Togo) 24 9 Pacific Energy Company Limited (Nigeria)
7 E Compagnie Ivoirienne d'Electricité (Cote d'lvoire) 25 % Paras !Energy and Natural Resources Development
vt Ltd (Nigeria)
8 = Contour Global (Togo) 26 Gﬁiﬁ Sahara Power Group Ltd (Nigeria)
o |EEEE Céte d'lvoire Energies (Cote d'lvoire) 27 =k SAPELE Power PLC (Nigeria)
e 3
10 c Cummins Power Generation Ltd (Nigeria) 28 -t Société Béninoise d’Energie Electrique (Benin)
1 0 Empressa Publica de Electricidade e Agua de Guine- 29 SOGEM* Société de Gestion de I'Energie de Manantali
J Bissau (Guinea Bissau) (Mali, Senegal, Mauritania, Guinea)
-
12 6, Electricité de Guinée (Guinea) 30 ‘I’F Société Nationale d’Electricité du Burkina (Burkina)
13 c' Electricity Company of Ghana (Ghana) 31 @ Société Nationale d’Electricité du Sénégal (Senegal)
14 EDSA Electricity Distribution and Supply Company (Sierra 32 l" Société Nigérienne d’Electricité (Niger)
Leone)
15 &;'\;, Energie du Mali-SA (Mali) 33 E}ﬁ Sunon Asogli Power (Ghana) Ltd. (Ghana)
16 | ®GRIDCo  |Ghana Grid Company (Ghana) 34 Transcorp Power (Nigeria)
17 | NARPOMERS®P Karpowership Ghana Company Ltd (Ghana) 35 L--J Transmission Company of Nigeria (Nigeria)
18 (;) Liberia Electricity Corporation (Liberia) 36 ﬁ Volta River Authority Ghana)

*Observer member

WAPP GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES: WAPP is made up of a total of four (4) governance structures: the
General Assembly, the Executive Board, the Organisational Committees and the WAPP Secretariat.
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WAPP ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

15 Membres - huit (11) membres permanents, trois

RS Sl EAECUT (3) membres tournants, 1 membre honoraire

CTE E

CPSE

CF COMITES ORGANISATIONNELS
CRHG

cDC

SECRETARIAT GENERAL

Département Planification,

Département du Centre
Information & Coordination (CIC)

Programmation des
Investissements & Sauvegarde de
’Environnement (PIPES)

Département Administration &
Finance (AF)




MEMBERS OF THE WAPP EXECUTIVE BOARD: The Executive Board consists of 15 Members - eleven (11)
permanent members, three (3) rotating members and 1 honorary member.

Permanent Members:

- TCN: Chairperson
- CI-ENERGIES: Vice-Chairperson
- WAPP Secretary General: Member

- CEB: Member

- EDG: Member

- GRIDCO: Member

- SBEE: Member

- Senelec: Member

- SOGEM: Member

- SONABEL: Member

- VRA: Member

Rotating Members:

-  EDM-SA: Member

- Mainstream: Member

- NEDCO: Member

Honorary Member:
- Mr. Joseph MAKOJU



Chairperson of the Executive Board Vice-Chairperson of the Executive Board

A R

Mr. Usman Gur MOHAMMED, CEO et MD TCN Mr. Amidou TRAORE, DG CI-ENERGIES

Permanent Members

& \ { ~"‘l5

Mr. Siengui A. KI, SG EEEOA Mr. Karimou CHABI SIKA, DG CEB Mr. Bangaly KONATE, DG EDG

“ "
3 ’

Mr. J. AMOAKO-BAAH, CEO GRIDCO Mr. Jacques Paradis, DG SBEE Mr. Pape Mademba BITEYE, DG Senelec



Mr. Tamsir NDIAYE, DG SOGEM Mr. Baba Ahmed COULIBALY, DG SONABEL Mr. Emmanuel ANTWI-DARKWA, CEO VRA

Rotating Members

Mr. Boubacar KEITA, CEO EDM — SA Mr. Lamu AUDU, CEO Mainstream Mr. Osmani Aliduba AYUBA, MD NEDCO

Honorary Member

Mr. Joseph MAKOJU
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2. KEY DEVELOPMENTS

21.  Presentation of the updated ECOWAS Master Plan for the Development of Regional Power
Generation and Transmission Infrastructure to the Technical and Financial Partners

The updated ECOWAS Master Plan for the Development of Regional Power Generation and Transmission
Infrastructure was officially adopted by the Session of the ECOWAS Authority of Heads of State and Government
held on 22nd December 2018 in Abuja, Nigeria.

Following its adoption, the WAPP Secretariat embarked on a tour to present the Plan to its Technical and
Financial Partners (TFPs) and to request for their continued support. In this vein, the WAPP Secretariat
conducted a mission, between February and April 2019, to the European Union Delegation in Cotonou, then to
the IsDB, AfDB, AFD, EIB, KfW, World Bank and EBID at their respective headquarters.

During the TFP Coordination Meeting held in Cotonou on 26th April 2019, the Plan was presented again to afford
those who were unable to receive the WAPP mission the opportunity to take full cognizance of the said Plan.

2.2. Installation of the North Core Project Implementation Unit in Abuja
Following the recruitment of its Director in 2018 and its key staff by the end of the first quarter of 2019, the PIU,
which falls under the authority of the WAPP Secretariat in accordance with the established North Core Project
implementation plan, was installed in May 2019 in its permanent premises in Abuja, Nigeria. From there, it shall
work with the support of the Owners’ Engineer to finalize the bidding documents for the works, recruit contractors,
monitor the implementation of the conclusions of the environmental and social impact assessment study and
ensure follow-up on the works. It shall have representations in the various project beneficiary countries.

2.3.  Adoption of the 2020 — 2023 WAPP Business Plan

The Business Plan is a four-year tool developed by WAPP for the implementation of the ECOWAS Master Plan.
Following the adoption of the new Master Plan in December 2018, it became essential to formulate a new
Business Plan, since the current one (2016 - 2019) was drawing to an end.

The new Business Plan covering the period 2020-2023, prepared by the WAPP Secretariat, was considered by
the Strategic Planning and Environmental Committee during its meeting held on 28" September 2019, in
Cotonou. At this meeting, the Business Plan was endorsed by the SPEC which in turn recommended it to the
Executive Board for approval. The Business Plan was adopted by the Executive Board during its meeting held
on 5t October 2019, and upon onward submission, approved by the WAPP General Assembly at its session
held in Abuja on 8h November 2019. The Plan, which is valued at a total implementation budget of
US$19,753,673,567, is predicated on 5 objectives as follows:

- OBJECTIVE 1: Develop WAPP Priority Projects

- OBJECTIVE 2: Operationalize the Regional Electricity Market
- OBJECTIVE 3: Restructure WAPP Secretariat

- OBJECTIVE 4: Implement WAPP Dark Fibre Project

- OBJECTIVE 5: Reinforce Capacity of WAPP

2.4. Kick-off of the Technical Assistance to the WAPP ICC

The European Union and World Bank, the two TFPs that are supporting WAPP towards the implementation of
the Regional Electricity Market, have funded technical assistance programs to assist in the transformation of the
ICC Department into the System and Market Operator (SMO) including its initial operationalization. The RTE
International technical assistance, provided by a 4-member on-site team was officially launched on 20t May,
2019. This assistance is intended to assist the ICC Department in organizing itself adequately enough to assume
its new responsibilities under the Regional Market, in training the ICC staff, in operating the WAPP
interconnected power system control equipment and administering the Regional Market. The assistance of the
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AETS Bureau consists of a one-man crew dispatched to Cotonou. Whereas the World Bank-funded technical
assistance is provided by an Individual Consultant.

2.5. Admission of new members into WAPP

At the 14t WAPP General Assembly Session held on 8 November 2019 in Abuja, Nigeria, 4 new members
were admitted into the WAPP Organization. Namely:

- APR Energy (Senegal);

- Cummins Power Generation Ltd (Nigeria);
- SAPELE Power PLC (Nigeria);

- Transcorp Power (Nigeria).

Regrettably, 3 member utilities (GTS, GTG and NBET) that were no longer fulfilling their membership obligations
to WAPP were stripped of their membership status during the same meeting.

Accordingly, WAPP membership progressed from 35 to 36 members.
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3. MESSAGE FROM WAPP EXECUTIVE BOARD CHAIRMAN

Mr. Usman Gur MOHAMMED,
Executive Board Chairman

It gives me great pleasure to take stock of our
Institution’s report on activities achieved over the
just concluded year 2019, the 20t since its creation
in 1999. It gives me even greater joy because this
year, we are going to edit and publish our Annual
Report for the first time.

We can boldly state with a sense of pride that it has
been a year with a record of successes that draw us
closer to the objectives set by the ECOWAS Heads
of State and Government at the creation of the
Institution.

Thusly, following the adoption on 21st December
2018 of the new ECOWAS Master Plan for the
Development of Regional Power Generation and
Transmission Infrastructure for the period 2019 -
2033, we pitched it to our Technical and Financial
Partners. To this end, the General Secretariat
visited the TFPs' respective headquarters to
present the Plan to them and solicit their support.

In its quest for solutions to ensure the establishment
of an effective and efficient electricity market,
WAPP has pursued its discussions with the World
Bank, which financed the study that led to the
drafting of the Directive on Securitization of Cross-
Border Power Trade for implementation within the
framework of the Regional Electricity Market. Said
discussions naturally involve state actors whose
role is primordial in the implementation of this
Directive that is geared at establishing a set of rules
aimed at enhancing the viability and sustainability of

cross-border electricity supplies and payments
through secure payment guarantees. We are
confident that in the year 2020, pragmatic solutions
will be found towards the implementation of this
Directive.

Overall, the priority projects are progressing
steadily, as evidenced from the status of
implementation of priority projects. However, certain
delays have been observed, as in the case of the
ICC project earmarked for the construction of the
centre from which the ECOWAS interconnected
power system will be coordinated and the Regional
Electricity Market will be managed. An audit
conducted by the end of 2018 paved way for the
adoption of measures that have somewhat reduced
said delay, which suggests that all works scheduled
for the year should be completed in 2020.

| equally express satisfaction over the functioning of
the organisation at the institutional level. All the
organs are functioning normally.

The Executive Board held all the ordinary meetings
planned for the year (4 in number), including those
scheduled for the adoption of the 2018 Financial
Statements and the 2020 Budget. These meetings
enabled, among others, the adoption of
amendments to the WAPP Secretariat's Staff
Regulations, the Organisational Structure & Staffing
Plan of the ICC, the establishment of the CIGRE
West Africa National Committee, and the 2020 -
2023 WAPP Business Plan.

The various Organisational Committees and Task
Forces thereof also held their statutory meetings,
thus enabling them to support the Executive Board
with their valuable advice. It is noteworthy to
mention that the bulk of documents adopted by the
Executive Board were duly reviewed/forwarded by
the Organisational Committees.

The General Assembly Session was held from 4t to
8t November 2019 and welcomed 4 new members
thus boosting WAPP membership to 36 members,
while 3 other members not up-to-date with their
obligations were stripped of their membership
status.

The year 2020 looks auspicious and is likely to
ensure the completion of certain priority projects
under implementation, which augurs well for the
kick-off of the competitive phase of the Regional
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Electricity Market and commencement of
construction works on certain projects under
preparation, notably the North Core and the Guinea-
Mali Interconnection Projects.

Usman Gur MOHAMMED
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4. MESSAGE FROM THE SECRETARY GENERAL

Siengui A. KI,
WAPP Secretary General

Striving with determination and enthusiasm since its
inception, WAPP has yet again this year remained
steadfast in the pursuit of achieving its mission. We
have focused our efforts on the implementation of
activities that should culminate before long in the
implementation of a Competitive Regional
Electricity Market.

In this vein, during the first quarter of 2019, the
WAPP Secretariat had set out to present the new
2019 - 2033 ECOWAS Master Plan for the
Development of Regional Electric Power
Generation and Transmission Infrastructure to its
TFPs and to seek their continued support for this
Plan that was adopted by the ECOWAS Authority of
Heads of State and Government in December 2018
in Abuja, Nigeria.

With respect to the Directive on Securitization of
Cross-Border Power Trade (adopted by the
ECOWAS Council of Ministers in Abuja in
December 2018 and) aimed at ensuring the
establishment of a viable and sustainable Regional
Electricity Market, WAPP has pursued discussions
with the World Bank, which had assisted in the
elaboration of the said Directive. Said discussions
are geared towards the field implementation of the
Directive, notably with regard to the establishment
of financial guarantees. This directive is expected to
facilitate the transformation of our member utilities

into financially solvent structures that are mature
enough to participate in an efficient market.

The 2020 - 2023 Business Plan, adopted by the 14t
Session of our General Assembly, outlines the main
objectives set by our Institution for the next four
years. It shall constitute the working and steering
instrument of the WAPP Secretariat in its stride
towards the realization of the Market.

Among the latest achievements of our Institution,
the year 2019 has heralded in good news for the
Coastal Transmission Backbone Project: which is
the inauguration in April of the 330 kV Davié
Substation in Togo. Thanks to the commissioning of
this substation, the 330 kV line segment between
Tema in Ghana and Davié shall also be energized.
The remaining section between Davié and Sakété
in Benin is expected to be commissioned in the first
quarter of 2020.

Ongoing works on the CLSG Project and the OMVG
Loop, the two construction works that shall ensure
the electrical interconnection of the continental
states of ECOWAS, are progressing steadily albeit
certain difficulties observed and expected to be
completed in the course of the year 2020. These
aforementioned two projects coupled with the
ongoing works on the WAPP Information and
Coordination Centre (ICC) constitute the three
projects that will indeed enable the effective kick-off
of the competitive phase of the Regional Electricity
Market. In 2018, the ICC civil engineering works had
encountered difficulties that have been relatively
well remedied and said works, including the ICC
equipment, are expected to be completed in the
course of the year 2020.

The WAPP Power System Synchronization Project
entered its implementation phase this year with the
design and manufacture of equipment to be
installed on the WAPP interconnected power
system by the company awarded the equipment
supply contract. Whilst the calibration of the main
power generators is equally expected to commence
soon.

Works on the WAPP North Core Project are
progressing satisfactorily. The Project Management
Unit has been installed in its premises in Abuja,
Nigeria, since May 2019. The Owners’ Engineer has
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formally taken up his functions in September 2019
with the launching of a Request for Expressions of
Interest from construction companies. Similar
progress has also been made with regard to the
Guinea-Mali  Interconnection  Project, whose
Owners’ Engineer had also officially assumed
duties in September 2019.

Power generation projects, particularly construction
works on solar power plants, are also making good
progress. In this respect, the feasibility studies for
the 150 MW Solar Power Plants in Burkina Faso
and Mali were launched in March 2019. The
environmental and social impact assessment
studies for these power plants were launched in
October & November respectively for Burkina Faso
& Mali, and two contracts were signed in September
2019 for the organization of auctions following
competitive biddings by IPPs for the construction of
these plants. Whereas, the feasibility studies for
The Gambia, Niger and Céte d'lvoire line segments
are expected to commence very shortly. The study
on the optimization of hydropower generation on the
Saint Paul Riverin Liberia was launched in February
2019.

In terms of mobilization of new fundings, continued
efforts have been deployed by the WAPP
Secretariat to mobilise funding from its Technical
and Financial Partners, who today give much credit
to our Institution.

Following the adoption of the new Master Plan in
December 2018 by the ECOWAS Authority of
Heads of State and Government, the WAPP
Secretariat organized an official tour to acquaint our

Institution’s key Technical and Financial Partners
with this new Plan. The first Donors’ (TFP)
Coordination Meeting, which was held last April
2019 in Cotonou, also helped to acquaint all our
partners with the Plan. As a result of which, till date,
funding is currently being finalized for the update of
the Ghana - Burkina Faso - Mali Interconnection
Study; while funding sought for the study on the
WAPP Median Core Project envisaged to link
Nigeria, Benin, Togo, Ghana and Céte d'lvoire has
been sourced and the recruitment process for the
feasibility study consultant is underway.

[ would like to seize this opportunity to express once
again my satisfaction and sincere appreciation to
the Technical and Financial Partners (TFPs) without
whose support the progress achieved would not
have been possible.

| extend my profound gratitude to the ECOWAS
Commission, the WAPP Executive Board, the
WAPP Member Utilities, as well as the WAPP
Secretariat Staff for all the sacrifices and efforts
deployed that have enabled WAPP today to achieve
the results attained so far and of which we can all
be proud.

| entreat you to an insightful perusal of this 2019
Annual Report.

Siengui A. KI
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5.STATUS OF IMPLEMENTATION OF PRIORITY]

The priority projects concerned are those contained in the ECOWAS Master Plan for the Development of
Regional Power Generation and Transmission Infrastructure. This Plan is the planning tool for the
implementation of large-scale power transmission and interconnection lines of ECOWAS Member States as well
as major power generation plants, made available to WAPP by the ECOWAS Heads of State and Government.

Most of the activities related to priority projects are carried out by the PIPES Department.

5.1. Resources Mobilisation & Projects
Preparation
Resource mobilisation is an important step in the
preparation and implementation of the WAPP
Priority Investment Programme and constitutes a
key activity of the WAPP Secretariat.

5.1.1. Presentation of New Master Plan to
TFPs

Following the adoption of the updated 2019-2033
ECOWAS Master Plan for the Development of
Regional Power Generation and Transmission
Infrastructure by the ECOWAS Authorities, the
WAPP Secretariat undertook visits to present the
Plan to its partners and solicit their support for its
implementation. A mission led by the WAPP
Secretary General successively visited the IsDB in
Jeddah from 20t — 21st February 2019, the AfDB in
Abidjan on 28 February 2019, the AFD in Paris on
4th March 2019, the EIB in Luxembourg on 7t March
2019, the KfW in Frankfurt on 8t March 2019, the
World Bank in Washington on 1st April 2019 and the
EBID in Lomé on 18! April 2019.

‘The WAPP SG with the EU Ambassador

5.1.2.  WAPP Donors’ (PTF) Coordination
Meetings

As part of WAPP’s regular consultations with its
Technical and Financial Partners, the Secretariat
held the 33 and 34t Coordination Meetings with its
TFPs, respectively on 26th April 2019 in Cotonou
and on 7th November 2019 during the 14t WAPP
General Assembly Session in Abuja (Nigeria).
These meetings constituted an opportunity for the
WAPP Secretariat to present to these partners the

progress made in the implementation of WAPP
Priority Projects, the Regional Electricity Market and
the Capacity Building Programme designed for the
WAPP Secretariat and its Member Utilities. These
meetings also afforded the opportunity to present to
the Partners, the Institution’s funding requirements
for the implementation of its priority projects.

&y . 1 DR .

Group photo of the meeting from 26 April 2019

5.1.3. Development of the 2020 - 2023
WAPP Business Plan
The 2020-2023 Business Plan was drafted by the
WAPP Secretariat and reviewed by the Strategic
Planning and Environmental Committee during its
meeting held on 28th September 2019 in Cotonou.
During the meeting, the SPEC endorsed the
Business Plan and recommended it to the Executive
Board for approval. The Business Plan was adopted
by the Executive Board at its meeting of 05t
October 2019 and submitted to the WAPP General
Assembly who approved it at the session held in
Abuja on 07" November 2019. It is based on 5
objectives for a total implementation budget of US$
19,753,673,567. The objectives are:

- OBJECTIVE 1: Develop WAPP Priority
Projects

- OBJECTIVE 2: Operationalize Regional
Electricity Market

- OBJECTIVE 3: Restructure WAPP
Secretariat
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OBJECTIVE 4: Implement WAPP Dark
Fiber Project - OBJECTIVE 5: Reinforce
Capacity of WAPP

51.4. 330 kV Cote d’lvoire - Ghana

Interconnection Reinforcement
Project

Feasibility & ESIA Studies and Bidding

Documents finalized with EU funding;

Length: 296 km;

Cost of works: 180.4 million Euros;

KW and EIB interested in financing the

project;

Change of priorities on the Ghanaian side

resulting in postponement of project

implementation;

Expected commissioning: 2029.

51.5. 330 kV Nigeria - Benin

Interconnection Reinforcement
Project

Feasibility, ESIA & Line Route Studies

underway with funding from NEPAD-IPPF,

USAID, GIZ and beneficiary utilities;

Estimated cost of works: 87.6 million Euros;

Expected commissioning: 2023.

51.6. 225 kV Cote d'lvoire - Liberia

Interconnection Reinforcement
Project

Sourcing of funding for pre-investment

studies: US$ 3.43 million;

Funding solicited from NEPAD-IPPF and

USTDA;

Approval of a donation of US$ 1.79 million

by NEPAD-IPPF for partial financing of

studies;

Financing gap of US$ 1.31 million;

Expected commissioning: 2024.

51.7. 330 kV Ghana - Burkina - Mali

Interconnection Project

Sourcing of funding for update of the
Technical Feasibility & ESIA Studies
following among other things, changes in
environmental protection legislation in the
project countries and the voltage level of
330 kV recommended by the new master
plan;

World Bank, AFD and MCC expressed
interest in jointly funding the update of the
studies for an amount of 4.7 million USD;

Withdrawal of MCC from project funding
and resumption of discussions between the
WB, AFD and the WAPP General
Secretariat to adopt a financing plan for the
studies;

Approval of a donation of US$ 0.58 million
by NEPAD-IPPF for partial financing of
studies;

Due diligence procedure underway for
recruitment of Consultant in charge of the
Study;

Recommendation to explore the proper
voltage level between 330 kV and 400 kV;

Length: about 600 km of line between
Bolgatanga (Ghana) - Bobo Dioulasso
(Burkina) - Sikasso (Mali);

Expected commissioning: 2024,

5.1.8. 330 kV WAPP North Core

Interconnection Project
Interconnection linking Nigeria, Niger,
Benin and Burkina Faso;

Pre-investment studies completed;

Total length: 875 km;

Project cost: US$ 697.7 million including
RE;

Financing: World Bank, AfDB, AFD, EBID
and EU;

Recruitment of the PIU Director and key
staff completed;

Installation of the PIU in Abuja since May
2019;

Recruitment  of  Owners’  Engineer
completed and latter’s activities launched in
September 2019;

Launch of prequalification documents for
the recruitment of construction companies
in September 2019 and no-objection notice
expected from TFP;

Expected commissioning: 2023.

51.9. 330 kv WAPP Median Backbone

Interconnection Project
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This entails the first segment of the WAPP Median
Backbone Project. It links Nigeria, Benin, Togo,
Ghana and Cote d'lvoire.

Cost of pre-investment studies: US$ 3
million provided by the World Bank;

TOR of studies currently being finalized;
Evaluation of EOls for recruitment of
Consultants in charge of studies
underway;

Expected commissioning: 2025.

5.1.10. Optimal Development Plan for the

St. Paul River Waterfall in Liberia
and Feasibility Study for the priority
project selected

This is a multi-phase project funded by the World
Bank and coordinated by the WAPP Secretariat. It
was launched in 2017 and the activities carried out
over the year 2019 are as follows:

Launch of the Optimal Development Study
for the St. Paul River Waterfall in May;
Validation of the Market Survey Report in
July;

Review of the Interim Report on Power
Generation Options;

Approval of the Waterfall Development
Plan in September;

Establishment of a Panel of Experts for the
St. Paul Hydroelectric Project in Liberia
and future WAPP hydropower projects
underway;

Ongoing recruitment of the Phase 2
Technical Assistance Consultant.

5.1.11. Cote d’lvoire - Guinea

Interconnection Project
Sourcing of funding for pre-investment
studies: US$ 3.26 million;

Funding solicited from TFPs;
Expected commissioning: 2024.

5.1.12. 150 MW Regional Solar Parks in

Burkina Faso and Mali

These are two projects involving the construction of
150 MW regional solar parks in Burkina Faso and
Mali respectively.

Pre-investment studies under way with
World Bank funding;

Multi-site  and  multiphase  approach
adopted for solar park construction;

- "Plug and Play" concept applied: energy
evacuation facilities are built through public
funding and the solar park developer is
selected via tender calls;

- Recruitment of Transaction Advisors
finalised and contracts signed.

5.1.13. 450 MW Maria Gléta (Benin) and
Aboadze (Ghana) Regional Thermal
Generation Facility Projects

The preparation of these regional generation
projects is underway within the framework of a
Public Private Partnership (PPP) with Africa
Finance Corporation (AFC).

- Maria Gléta Thermal Generation Facility:

e Capacity: 450 MW;

o Feasibility study completed;

e Commercial framework to govern
the project under discussion
between AFC and the power
utilities/countries involved in the
project;

e The African Legal Support Facility
(ALSF), at the request of the
WAPP  Secretariat, agreed to
provide utilities concerned with a
Commercial Transactions Advisor.
Recruitment of the latter is in
progress;

e Recent difficulties encountered on
the Maria Gléta site could
jeopardize the use of this site for
the construction of the plant; this
will have some repercussions on
the project.

- Aboadze Thermal Generation Facility:

e Capacity: 450 MW;

e Awaiting validation of site; the
initial site — Domunli - has been
changed by the Ghanaian
Authorities to Aboadze and the
choice of this new site must be
validated and the site declared as
a free zone.

5.2.  Projects Coordination & Monitoring

The WAPP Secretariat ensured the coordination
and monitoring of the implementation of the
following projects:
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5.2.1.

330 kV Aboadze-Prestea-Kumasi-
Bolgatanga Transmission Line in
Ghana

The project involves the reinforcement of Ghana's
internal grid to ensure greater power transit capacity
to the northern part of the country.

Length: 798 km split into 3 segments:
e Aboadze - Prestea funded by
Armandi;
e Prestea — Kumasi funded by Korea
Exim Bank;
e Kumasi - Bolgatanga via Kintampo
& Tamale funded by AFD.
Works kick-off: 2015;
Aboadze — Prestea & Prestea — Kumasi
segments already commissioned;
Delays in works on Kumasi — Bolgatanga
segment; works still in progress.

5.2.2. 330 kV Volta (Ghana) - Lomé “C”

(Togo) -  Sakété
Interconnection Project

(Benin)

This is a segment of the WAPP Coastal
Transmission Backbone interconnection line from
Ghana to Benin where it intertinks with the Nigeria -
Benin segment.

Length: 350 km;

Financing: AfDB, BM, KfW and BOAD;
Works kick-off: 2013;

Completion of works in Ghana: 2015;
Completion of works on the Ghana / Togo
border - Davié substation segment and
commissioning of segment in April 2019;
Remaining Davié - Sakété segment
expected to be completed in 1st Quarter of
2020.

5.2.3. 225kV Cote d’lvoire - Liberia - Sierra

Leone - Guinea
Interconnection Project
Length: 1,349 km;
Financing: BM, AfDB, EIB and KfW;
Works kick-off: 2017;
Implementation progress: about 66%;
Commencement of sequential
commissioning of works in March 2020 and
completon of works in  2020.

(CLSG)

5.2.4. OMVG Energy Project (Senegal,
Gambia, Guinea & Guinea-Bissau)

View of the destruction of obstacles in the corridor of the OMGYV loop line

The project consists of 3 components:

Kaleta Hydropower Facility (240 MW),
operational since 2015:

e Capacity: 240 MW.

225 kV Interconnection Loop interlinking
the four countries concerned:

e Length: 1,677 km;

e Financing: AfDB, WB, EIB, AFD,
BOAD, KfW, IsDB and Kuwait
Fund;

e Works kick-off: 2017;

e Works progressing steadily despite
difficulties in clearance of right-of-
way;

e  Completion of works: 2020.

128 MW de Sambangalou Hydropower
Facility;

o Partnership Agreement between
the OMVG and VINCI Group for
execution of works;

e Commencement of works: end
2019;

e Completion of

works:  2023.

5.2.5. Adjarala Hydropower Project
This involves a dam located along the Togo/Benin

border.

Capacity: 147 MW;

Financing: initial agreement between China
Exim Bank and the Beninese & Togolese
Governments; however, difficulties
encountered during the implementation of
said agreement has compelled both
governments to source for new partners.
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5.2.6. Souapiti & Amaria Hydropower

o
A5

Projects in Guinea

Souapiti

Capacity: 450 MW;

Financing: Exim Bank China and the
Government of Guinea;

Implementation rate: about 50%;
Commencement of filling of the dam in
July 2019;

Completion of works: 2020.

Amaria

Capacity: 300 MW;

Financing:  Agreement between the
Government of Guinea and TBEA (China)
for the development of the project;
Cancellation of WB funding granted to the
WAPP Secretariat for the pre-investment
studies.

Commencement  of the  project
implementation phase for a duration of 4
years.

5.2.7. Gouina Hydropower Project
The project comprises 2 components:

R/
A X4

Construction of the Gouina Hydropower
Dam

Capacity: 140 MW;

Financing: China Exim Bank;
Implementation rate: about 55%;
Completion of works: 2020.

225 kV Manatali - Kita — Bamako Line
Length: 317 km;

Financing: AFD, EU and SOGEM;
Owners’ Engineer already recruited;
Ongoing selection of construction
companies;

Completion of works: 2021.

528. 225 kV  Guinea -  Mali
Interconnection Project

Alaae PPMY Thvam W1 4

Group photo of the kick-off meeting Guinea- Mali

Pre-investment studies completed with
AfDB financing;
Length of Nzerekore - Fomi — Bamako line:
714 km;
Cost: 361.32 million Euros (288.09 million
Euros for Guinea and 73.23 million Euros
for Mali);
Financing: World Bank, AfDB, EIB, EBID,
EU and BOAD;
Recruitment  of  Owners’  Engineer
completed and latter’s activities launched in
September 2019;
Expected commissioning: 2023;
Pre-investment studies completed for the
Linsan - Fomi segment in Guinea designed
to improve power grid efficiency:

e Length of Linsan - Fomi segment:

350 km;
e Cost: 118.15 million Euros;
e Financing: Government of Guinea
and China Exim Bank.
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6. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE REGIONAL
ELECTRICITY MARKET

The establishment of a competitive Regional Electricity Market is the ultimate goal set for WAPP by the

ECOWAS Heads of State.

The ICC, a Department within the WAPP Secretariat, is in charge of activities related to the Regional Electricity
Market. In its effort to implement the regional electricity market, the ICC Department undertook various activities

primarily focused on the following strategic projects:

- Implementation of the WAPP ICC Project;

- Implementation of WAPP Market Road Map;

- Implementation of Synchronization Project;

- Distribution utilities performance improvement (distribution loss reduction project).

6.1.  Implementation of ICC Project

Mee_ting to Launch Network Equipment Settings Contract in
Abuja in the presence of the Chairman of WAPP

The WAPP Information and Coordination Centre
(ICC) Project is a European Union funded project
which involves the construction of the ICC building
at Calavi, supply/installation of
SCADA/EMS/MMS/WAMS  System  for  Power
System and Electricity Market Management.

The Objectives of the ICC Project are as follows:

% Enable ICC to fully assume its role of
interconnected power system Operator and
Operator of the West African Regional
Electricity Market;

% Put in place the infrastructure, technical
equipment, organization and the required
capacity building.

The WAPP Secretariat carried out the following

activities within the framework of the project:

7/

- Organized an MMS Billing and Settlement
OJT training session in Massy-France from
23 March to 17t April 2019.

- Organized S/T MMS Session in France
from 15t to 16t April 2019.

- Organized an MMS Billing and Settlement
FAT (Phase 2) session in Massy-France
from 13t to 17t May 2019.

- ICC SCADA Taskforce Meeting was held in
Cotonou from 24t to 25t July 2019.

- PMU, Meters and Telecommunications
Equipment have been deployed in the
following countries: Benin, Burkina FASO,
Cote d'lvoire, Guinea, Niger, Nigeria,
Senegal and Togo. The ICC participated in
these activities.

- In September 2019, Grid Solutions SAS
started the ICCP Link for information
exchange between ICC and CIE, Sonabel
and will continue for GRIDCo, Senelec and
CEB.

- One (1) Satelite System VSAT
Configuration training session held in
Massy-France in September 2019. One (1)
SDH.PBX Telecommunications
Configuration training session held in
Massy-France in October 2019.

The status of implementation of ICC infrastructure
is as follows:

- The percentage completion for the ICC
Building is estimated at 75%.
- The percentage completion for Equipment
at Calavi is estimated at 59%.
- The overall percentage completion of the
ICC project till date is estimated at 67%.
- The following are key estimated ICC project
milestones:
e The WAPP ICC Building A
(Technical Building) is expected to
be completed by January 2020.
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e The WAPP ICC Building B
(Administrative Building) is
expected to be completed by June
2020.

e SCADA/EMS/MMS/WAMS
installations are expected to be
completed by October 2020.

e Site Acceptance Tests (SAT) and
entire project is to be completed by
December 2020.

6.2.  Establishment of the Regional
Electricity Market

Launchofthe 1st phase of the ECOWAS Regional Electricity Market,
Cotonou, June 29, 2018, View of the stakeholders with the Inaugural
plaque.

The objective of ECOWAS Regional Electricity
Market is to establish a technical, organizational,
legal and commercial environment to sell and
purchase electricity transparently at competitive
costs in the sub-region for the benefit of West
Africa's population.

Following the official launch of the Regional
Electricity Market in 2018, the activities carried out
in 2019 are as follows:

- Following the 12t to 13t July 2019 and 30t
September to 1st October 2019 joint
Finance and Engineering & Operating
Committee Market Taskforce Meetings, the
Settlement Bank Agreement, the WAPP
Day Ahead Market Book of Rules were
drafted and validated. They were approved
by WAPP Executive Board on 05! October
2019.

- The 9" WAPP and ERERA Technical
Working Group Meeting were held in from
25t to 261 April 2019 in Cotonou.

- During an WAPP-EOC Ad Hoc Taskforce
Meeting held from 31 to 4t October 2019
the following documents were adopted and

submitted to WAPP Executive Board that
approved them:

e |CC Organization and Staffing;

e |CC Staffing Planning.

6.3.  Synchronization of WAPP
Interconnected System Project
- ’ X

Project Synchronization: Neotiations team of the Network
Equipment Settings Contract
The WAPP ICC is currently implementing Phase ||
of the Synchronization Project.

Phase Il of the project has two contracts:

% Contract #1: “Design, Supply and
installation of Static Var Compensators
(SVC), Phasor Measurement Units
(PMU) and Special Protection Scheme
(SPS) relays”.

+«+ Contract #2: “Power System Stabilizer
Tuning, Measurement campaign and
Testing of Governors, Change of
Settings and Performing
Synchronization Test”.

The following activities were carried out under
Contract #1:

- In collaboration with the Contractor
recipient of the contract, a kick-off meeting
was organized from 6t - 8t March 2019 in
Dakar to commence project execution.

- The Contractor undertook site visits to
locations for SVC (Matam substation) and
PMU installations (interconnection
substations) during the month of March
2019.

- In collaboration with the Owners’ Engineer,
the WAPP ICC coordinated and reviewed
the contractor site visit reports, project time
schedule, FAT plan, training schedule,
design submittals on SVC, SPS and PMU
in collaboration with Owners Engineer and
experts of Utilities from April to July 2019.
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- Together with the Owners’ Engineer,
participated in a Factory Acceptance
Testing (FAT) of SPS and PMU at the
offices of the Contractor, NR Electric in
China from 24t to 31st August 2019.

- Atraining on SPS and PMU was organized
from 9t to 27t September 2019.

The following activities were carried out under
Contract #2:

- After receiving the World Bank’s no-
objection on the bid evaluation submitted
by the WAPP, the WAPP ICC organized a
contract negotiation meeting in Cotonou
from 12t -13t June 2019.

- In collaboration with the Contractor
recipient of the contract, the WAPP ICC
organized a kick- off meeting in Abuja from
3rd to 5t September 2019.

- The WAPP ICC in collaboration with the
Contractor undertook site visits and data
collection missions to all power plants
involved in Contract #2 from 16%
September to 4" November 2019.

The status of implementation of the Synchronization
Project contracts are as follows:

- The percentage completion for the
component related to SPS (70%
completed) and PMU (50% completed) is
estimated at 60%.

- The percentage completion for the
component related to SVC installation at
Matam substation is estimated at 15%.

- The overall percentage completion for
Contract #1 ("Design, Supply and
installation of Static Var Compensators
(SVC), Phasor Measurement Units (PMU)
and Special Protection Scheme (SPS)
relays”) is estimated at 12%.

- The percentage completion for Contract #2
(“Power System Stabilizer Tuning, Testing
of Governors, Change of Settings and
Performing  Synchronization ~Test”) is
estimated at 0.1%.

6.4.  Technical Working Group Activities

Frequency Adjustment Te-chm';l Wozi;zg G—rou;z A;rii 2019 1;1;ett:ng
in Lomé

To implement recommendations related to system
operations and planning operations, Three EOC
Technical Working Groups (Load Frequency
Control and Compliance Working Group, System
Reliability Assessment Working Group, System
Protection Coordination Working Group) were
created. They were required to define and take
appropriate actions and measures recommended in
the study report related to operations, operational
planning, system protection and coordination, to
ensure a safe and reliable operation of
interconnected power systems. This is to ensure
successful and sustainable synchronization of the
WAPP Interconnected System.

The output of activities carried out by the working
groups are the following:

- The System Reliability Assessment
Working Group in collaboration with the
Technical Assistance to Technical Working
Groups has developed a 2018 WAPP
Interconnected Network Model. The WAPP
ICC organized a System Reliability
Assessment Working Group meeting from
13th — 15t March 2019 and coordinated
online network model update exchanges as
part of the model development process.

- The System Protection and Coordination
Working Group analyzed and validated
distance protection settings for WAPP
Interconnection Lines at their 27 Working
Group meeting held in Cotonou from 26t —
28" June 2019. Recommended distance
protection settings were adopted for
implementation on the 225 kV Zagtouli —
Bolgatanga line and 330 kV Dawa — Davie
line.

- The Load Frequency Control and
Compliance Monitoring Working Group met
in Lomé from 231 — 25t April 2019 and in
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Dakar from 25t — 27t November 2019 to
assess the performance of utilities
compared to the requirements incumbent to
operators to ensure the success of
synchronization.

- A joint technical meeting between CIE-
GRIDCo-SONABEL-EDM was held in
Accra from 11t — 12th March 2019 with the
participation of the Technical Assistance to
Technical Working Groups to discuss
power transfer issues between CIE-
GRIDCo — SONABEL following completion
of the Ghana - Burkina Faso
Interconnection  line.  The  meeting
discussed and proffered preliminary
measures to address the problem and
recommended the need for detailed studies
to proffer appropriate solutions to resolve
loop flow related problems within the WAPP
Interconnected Network.

Technical Working Group «Network Reliability Assessment», March
2019 meeting in Accra

6.5. WAPP Regional
Pricing Model

Transmission

With the support of the World Bank under
Component 2B of Technical Assistance and
Integration of WAPP Network Project, a Consultant
(CESI SpA) have been engaged to assist in the
facilitation of the process to finalize and adopt the
Regional Transmission Pricing Model developed by
WAPP based on the Regional Transmission Pricing
Methodology approved by ERERA.

The following activities were carried out:

- Akick-off meeting to commence the project
execution was organized from 25t — 26t
July 2019.

- Adata collection mission was undertaken in
TCN from 23 — 24th September 2019;

- Adata collection mission was undertaken in
ERERA from 26t — 27t September 2019;

- The dissemination of the finalized model
with the support of the Consultant for the
benefit of stakeholders took place in Ghana
(20t — 22nd November 2019), in Senegal
(27t — 29t November 2019) and in Cote
d’lvoire (02 to 04t December 2019);

- The meeting to adopt the final report on the
tariff model will be organized in April 2020.

6.6.  Continental Electricity Transmission
Pricing Methodology for AU

- The ICC participated in a technical meeting
on the Harmonization of the Regulatory
Framework of the Electricity Markets in
Africa organized by the African Union
Commission from 02d to 04t October 2019
in Addis Ababa;

- The ICC participated in a training organized
by the African Union on the implementation
of the pricing methodology for electricity
transmission for the benefit of thirty (30)
participants (transmission system
operators and regulators) from 16t — 20t
December 2019 in Lomé.

6.7. Technical Assistance to the WAPP
ICC

Technical Assistance Group to the WAPP ICC family picture

Funding from the World Bank and European Union
(EU) were used to engage the services of the
following to provide technical assistance to the
WAPP ICC:

*

¢ Power Pool Advisor: A Senior International
Power Pool Advisor was engaged on a 1-year
contract to assist WAPP in the transition of the
ICC to a Regional System Market Operator
(RSMO). The responsibility of the Senior
International Power Pool Advisor includes:
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Technical assistance to the WAPP ICC
Director on organizational strategies and
changes to achieve the vision of
establishing a WAPP Regional Market as
well as changes to be carried out in
ECOWAS countries;

Guidance in developing, communicating
and implementing effective strategies that
support the creation and operation of a
Power Pool and a successful transition of
the current WAPP Information and
Coordination Center (WAPP ICC) into a
Regional System Market Operator as
outlined in the WAPP Market Roadmap;
Technical guidance to the WAPP ICC in the
performance of its reliability coordination
(real-time and operation planning) and
market operation functions as a RSMO.

+«»+ Technical Assistance for the operationalization
of ICC

RTE International has been engaged on a
35 - month Technical Assistance contract to
support the initial operationalization of the

ICC. The inception meeting for the
Technical Assistance was held in May
2019.

During the 35-month period, the Technical
Assistance during the Phase | of the project
would assist/support the ICC in the
following:

e Review ICC and WAPP System
Situation;

e Support in finalizing the ICC
Organizational Structure;

e Training ICC Operation Staff;

e Review and Update WAPP
Operation Manual;

e Set up a Digital Document
Management System;

e Assistance to WAPP member
companies.

In Phase II, the Technical Assistance would
provide Operations support to ICC in the
following:

e Operations of ICC;

e Market Planning;

e Real-time network supervision;

e Ex-post analysis;
o Electricity Market Management;

e Performance
Evaluation;

Monitoring  and

e |ICC Equipment Maintenance and
Repair;

o WAPP staff training and capacity
building.

The Technical Assistance has delivered an
Inception Report.

«» Technical Assistance AGoSE

6.8.

e AETS has been engaged on a 9-
month  Technical ~ Assistance
contract to assist in monitoring ICC
project implementation and assist
in  preparations towards the
operation of the |ICC. The
Technical Assistance commenced
in February.

Distribution utilities performance
improvement  (Distribution loss
reduction Project)

Distribution Loss Reduction Program Forum in the ECOWAS
Region

The Distribution Loss Reduction Project is one of
the initiatives aimed at improving the performance
of distribution utilities. The project is part of the
program “Promoting a Climate Friendly Electricity

Market

in ECOWAS” (ProCEM) which is being

supported by GIZ.

The ICC coordinated the working visit of the
consultant hired by GIZ to support WAPP to
CIE, EDM-SA, NEDCo and SONABEL from
8t April to 3¢ May, 2019 and to SBEE,
Abuja EDC and Kaduna EDC from 23rd
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September to 13t October 2019 to finalize
their distribution loss reduction projects that
were submitted by WAPP during the
November 2019 Donor Meeting.

A training course on Distribution Technical
Losses calculation was organized for the
benefit of ECOWAS Francophone and
Anglophone Distribution Utilities at Centre
des Métiers d’Electricit¢ de Bingerville
(Céte d'Ivoire) from 15t — 19t July 2019
and at Akuse Training Centre (Ghana) from
22nd — 26t July 2019. In order to enable the
Centre of Excellence to continue to provide
the Training on the Calculation of
Distribution Technical Losses, a training of
trainers from the Centers of Excellence

took place at Centre des Meétiers
d’Electricité de Bingerville from 17th — 21st
June 2019 for Francophones and at Akuse
Training Center from 24t — 28t June 2019
for Anglophones. At the end of the Training,
the Twenty-two (22) distribution Utilities
received the NEPLAN Software procured
with the support of GIZ.

The second Forum on Distribution Loss
Reduction Program took place from 16t —
20t September 2019 in Cotonou and
brought together twenty-five (25) ECOWAS
Distribution Utilities on the theme « Non-
Technical Distribution Loss Reduction».
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7. ADMINISTRATIVE AND FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The management of human, material and financial resources is core to the performance of any institution.
Accordingly, during the period under review, the WAPP Secretariat continued to ensure sound administrative
and financial management with a view to optimizing its performance and achieving its priority objectives.

The activities related to the management of human, administrative and financial resources carried out during the

period are as follows:

7.1.  Recruitments
Within the framework of the reinforcement of its
workforce, the WAPP Secretariat organized and
completed recruitment processes for the following
positions:

-1 Procurement Officer for the Procurement
Unit;

- 1 Contract Assistant Secretary to support
the Personal Assistant to the Secretary
General;

- 1 Budget Officer for the Administration and
Finance Department;

- 5 Contract Drivers to beef up the
Institution’s pool of drivers;

- 1 Bilingual Assistant to the Director,
Planning, Investment Programming and
Environmental Safeguards (PIPES);

- 1 Project Coordinator to support the
PIPES Department;

- 1 Contract Account Assistant to reinforce
the accounting and finance team.

In collaboration with the Recruitment Firm
"BluePrint Consult", eight (8) Consultants were
recruited for the WAPP North Core Project
Management ~ Unit  responsible  for  the
interconnection between Nigeria, Niger, Burkina
Faso, Togo and Benin. These include:

- A Senior Technical Project Coordinator;

- An Environmental, Health and Safety
Expert;

- A Social Safeguard Expert;

- A Procurement Specialist;

- AFinancial Specialist;

- A Monitoring and Evaluation Specialist;
- A Procurement Officer;

- A Senior Account Officer.

7.2.  Capacity Building

The WAPP Secretariat organized and participated
in training and exchange programmes, in
accordance with the Staff Training Plan and work
programmes contained in the technical assistance
agreements concluded with its Technical and
Financial Partners, as summarized below:

7.21. On WAPP’s own funds

- Training of the Director of WAPP
Information and Coordination Centre on the
"Principles of Economic Regulation and
Electricity Tariffs", in February 2019, in
Muscad, Oman.

- Training of the Internal Auditor on
"Accounting, Auditing and Insolvency"
within the framework of Continuing Career
Development, in April 2019, in Abuja,
Nigeria.

- Training of Electrical Engineers from WAPP
Information and Coordination Centre on
"Power System Planning", in May 2019 in
Korea, with the support of the World Bank.

- Training of the Budget Officer on "Capital
Management" within the framework of
Continuing Career Development, in June
2019, in Accra, Ghana.

- In-house training of all WAPP Secretariat
staff on “Utilization of Human Resources
Management Software”. The training
focused on the self-service device:
"individual access to personal payroll". Said
training was provided by the IT and Human
Resources Divisions in May 2019 within the
premises of the WAPP Secretariat in
Cotonou, Benin.

- Training for the benefit of the WAPP
Secretary General and Internal Auditor on
"Management and Leadership, Negotiation
within  International  Organizations" in
August 2019 at the ILI in Washington DC,
USA.

- Participation of the Internal Auditor at the
Annual Accountants’ Conference, within
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the framework of Continuing Career
Development, in September 2019, in Abuja,
Nigeria.

Training of the Budget Officer on "IPSAS
Update" within the framework of Continuing
Career Development, in August 2019, in
Accra, Ghana.

722. On TFP funding to the WAPP
Secretariat

Management of Electrical Power Industry
for technical Training

+«»+ World Bank: as part of its technical assistance
program to the WAPP Secretariat:

Second Training Session for the benefit of
WAPP Secretariat Directors, Professional
Staff and General Services Staff on
“Utilizaton ~ of  TOMPRO  Project
Management Software”, in February 2019
in Cotonou, Benin;

Training of Electrical Engineers from WAPP
Information and Coordination Centre on
"Power System Planning" in May 2019 in
Korea;

Training of the Director of Administration
and Finance and 03 executives (Legal
Advisor, Human Resources Officer and
Administration Officer) on Drafting Strategy
for Terms of Reference, Contracts and
efficient  Negotiation  strategies, in
December 2019 in London.

+«»+ European Union:

Training of Electrical Engineers (Planning)
and SCADA Engineers from WAPP
Information and Coordination Centre on
“OJT MMS” in April 2019 in Massy, France;
Training of the Assistant to the Director of
WAPP Information and Coordination
Centre on "Advanced Program for
Management Assistantship: Operational
Management" in May 2019 in Dubai.

% BAD:

7.2.3. Activities /

Training for the benefit of the WAPP
Secretary General and Internal Auditor on
«Management and Leadership, Negotiation
within  International  Organizations» in
August 2019 at the ILI in Washington DC,
USA.

Trainings
undertaken on TFP funding
for WAPP member utilities

«» World Bank :

Training Program and Certification of
operators of the regional interconnected
Assistance  Program  (ITAP): An
International Consulting Firm has been
recruited to develop  the Regional
Interconnected System Operator Training
and Certification Program. The study will
consist in taking stock of existing training
and certification courses within the various
WAPP transmission and system operators,
as well as the pedagogical and logistical
capabilities of the Regional Centres of
Excellence. Based on this inventory, a
training and certification course will be
proposed by the Consultant. The meeting
to review and adopt the interim report was
held in  November 2019. The
implementation of the certification program
should start in 2020.
Skills review in the electricity sub-sector
in West Africa / Integration and
Technical Assistance Program (ITAP):
The purpose of the study is to conduct a
skills review of the electricity sub-sector in
West Africa to identify and fill the gaps in
this sub-sector. The WAPP Secretariat
contributed to the development of the terms
of reference and tender documents for the
recruitment of a consulting firm. The
contract was signed in August 2019 and the
consultant commenced working on
September 25, 2019.
Training and Certification Program of
100 Agents / Solar Energy Technicians /
Solar Development Project in Sub-
Saharan Africa - Phase 1 (Sahel): The
WAPP Secretariat has drafted the concept
note for the program. The next phase will
be the assessment of the pedagogical
capabilities of the Training Centres for the
implementation of the training sessions
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which should start in early 2020. These
trainings will be carried out in collaboration
with CIGRE, the Universities of Technology
of host countries, in partnership with GIZ
and IRENA.

Establishment of the CIGRE West Africa
National Committee / Solar
Development Project in Sub-Saharan
Africa - Phase 1 (Sahel): The WAPP
Secretariat organized three (3) meetings for
the consideration and adoption of the
Statutes and Rules of Procedure of the
CIGRE West Africa National Committee.
Further to the approval of these documents
by the WAPP Executive Board, the CIGRE
West Africa National Committee was set up
during the WAPP General Assembly held in
November 2019.

Procurement and installation of
financial ~management  modules:
acquisition, monitoring and assessment
of the TOMPRO integrated software
earmarked for the fiduciary management of
WAPP projects and programmes.

% AfDB

The power sector stakeholders (Power Utilities,
Ministries in charge of Energy, Implementation
Units) from the CLSG Project beneficiary countries
and the WAPP Secretariat benefited from this
programme. The WAPP Secretariat organized
specialized training for the staff members of the
power utilities and Ministries in charge of the CLSG
Project beneficiary countries.

Training for the benefit of 80 employees
of the Liberia Electricity Corporation
(LEC) at NAPTIN’s training facilities in
Kainji and Lagos, Nigeria. The training
modules focused, among others, on
Planning and Management of Power
Infrastructure Projects; Operation and
Maintenance of Power Generation Plants;
Maintenance of Transmission Networks
and Source Substations; Construction and
Maintenance  of Power Distribution
Networks; including Commercial and
Power Grid Loss Management.

Training for benefit of 81 agents of
Sierra Leone's national power utilities,
"Electricity ~ Distribution and  Supply
Authority  (EDSA)" and  "Electricity

7
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Generation and Transmission Company
(EGTC)" at the VRA Academy in Akuse,
Ghana. The training modules covered,
among other, Planning and Management of
Power Infrastructure Projects; Operation
and Maintenance of Power Generation
Plants; Maintenance of Transmission
Networks and Source  Substations;
Construction and Maintenance of Power

Distribution Networks; including
Commercial and Power Grid Loss
Management.

Six (6) training sessions for the benefit
of 78 agents, comprising 60 employees
of CI-ENERGIES (Céte d’lvoire) and 12
employees of the Guinean National
Directorate for Energy (DNE). These
trainings were organized at the CME in
Bingerville, Cote d’Ivoire, and focused on
Management of Power Infrastructure
Projects and Issues pertaining to Financial
Structuring of PPP Projects, including
Calculation of Power Network Losses.

"Promotion of a Climate-Friendly

Electricity Market (ProMERC/ProCFEM)"
project:

Regional  training on  "Calculation
Distribution ~ Network  Losses  using
NEPLAN Software". This training was
conducted in two workshop sessions held
respectively from 15t — 19t July in Abidjan,
Cote d'Ivoire, for French-speaking and
Portuguese-speaking trainees and from
22nd — 26t July 2019 in Akusé, Ghana, for
the English-speaking trainees. About 40
power transmission officers and operators
from  WAPP member utilites and
representatives of the WAPP Secretariat
benefited from this training;

Training for the benefit of representatives of
the WAPP Secretariat and its member
utilites on  "Wind Power Project
Development" within the framework of the
West African Clean Energy Corridor
Initiative (WACEC) in March 2019, in
Abidjan, Céte d’lvoire.

USAID

Organization for the benefit of WAPP
Executive Board Members, of a study tour
to Power Pools in the US, in July 2018 and
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March 2019, respectively. These study
tours made it possible to meet the key
stakeholders in the US power industry and
learn about the legal, regulatory, technical,
commercial and financial issues pertaining
to the North American regional power
market.

l‘a-

Hydro Power & Plant system health safety group

7.3.  WAPP Regional Centres of
Excellence (RCE) Development
Project

The Business Plans for the Abomey-Calavi (Benin),
Cap-des-Biches (Senegal) and Kainji (Nigeria)
Regional Centers of Excellence funded by USAID
and GIZ, have been finalized and presented to the
WAPP TFPs to mobilize funding for the
implementation of the said Centres. The WAPP
Secretariat organized in November 2019, the first
meeting of Heads of the Centres of Excellence. The
meeting was seeking to establish a formal
framework for cooperation and information
exchange between WAPP and the Centres of
Excellence.

7.4.  WAPP Financial Management

The Financial Statements of the WAPP Secretariat
for the 2018 financial year have been prepared and
audited by the International Audit Firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), Ghana.

The audit report indicates that the Financial
Statements of the WAPP Secretariat portrayed a
true and fair view of the financial position of the
Institution and that the financial performance of the
WAPP and its cash flows for the period from 1st
January to 31st December 2018 were consistent
with the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS / NICSP).

The audit report was thus validated by the Finance
Committee and approved by the WAPP Executive
Board. These Financial Statements show a surplus
of UA 8,851 over that fiscal year, primarily due to
the increase in payment of contribution arrears by
WAPP member utilities in 2018. This surplus is
salutary as it will positively impact the financial
situation and performance of the Institution.

PwC Ghana has also audited the financial
statements of the WAPP Integration and Technical
Assistance Project (ITAP) in accordance with the
requirements of World Bank (WB), the Technical
and Financial Partner. The audit report was
transmitted within the prescribed deadline to the
concerned donor (WB) and was deemed compliant
by the latter.

The USAID Regional Office for West Africa
undertook a mission to appraise the financial
situation of the WAPP Institution in general and
more specifically the status of the USAID
Assistance to WAPP for the period 2014-2018.

2019 VRA Academy s visit to Akosombo DAM

Power Transmission Network Operations & Maintenance
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8. WAPP STATUTORY MEETINGS

In accordance with the statutes governing the Institution, WAPP ensures the organization of its annual statutory

meetings.

8.1. 13th  WAPP General
Session

Assembly

Group photo

The WAPP Secretariat, in collaboration with the
Beninese Ministry of Energy and the Société
Béninoise d’Energie Electrique, organized the 13t
WAPP General Assembly Session held from 5t —
9th November 2018 at the Marina Hotel in Cotonou,
Benin. The General Assembly afforded the WAPP
Secretariat an opportunity to keep its member
utilities and Technical & Financial Partners abreast
of the progress achieved and to proffer
recommendations for the development of the
Institution and West African electricity sector. This
General Assembly was an opportunity for the
admission of five (5) new members: (i) AKSA
Energy Company Limited (Ghana), (ii) North South
Power Company (Nigeria), (i) Pacific Energy
Company Limited (Nigeria), (iv) Paras Energy &
Natural Resources Development Limited (Nigeria),
(v) Sahara Power Group Limited (Nigeria).

R
‘VQDVAP&. — - .
Presidium at the 2018 WAPP GA opening ceremony
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8.2.

Summarized hereafter is an overview of the meetings held during the year 2018.

WAPP Executive Board Meetings

Group photo

The Executive Board held the following meetings:

41st Meeting held on 27t April 2019 in
Cotonou, which endorsed the proposed
exceptional contribution of the Nigerian
member utilities to the WAPP budget, thus
bringing all contributions by the Nigerian
utilities to 50% of the operating budget of
the WAPP Secretariat.

42nd Meeting held on 270 July 2019 in
Cotonou, which adopted the Financial
Statements of the WAPP Secretariat,
including the amendments to the Staff
Regulations and Code of Conduct of the
WAPP Secretariat.

43rd Meeting held on 5 October 2019 in
Cotonou, which considered the Work
Programme & Associated Budget of the
WAPP  Secretariat. The budget was
balanced in income and expenditure
amounting to UA 39,930,322. The
operating budget, borne by member
utilities’ contributions, amounted to UA
5,119,346. The Board also adopted (i) the
Settlement Bank Agreement and the Day
Ahead Market Book of Rules for the
Regional Electricity Market, (i) the 2020-
2023 WAPP Business Plan, (iii) the CIC
Organizational Structure and (iv) the
establishment of the CIGRE West Africa
National Committee.

44th Meeting was held on 7t November
2019 in Abuja as a prelude to the General
Assembly. Among others, it allowed to
appoint three (03) rotating members of the
Executive Board, to propose the exclusion
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of three (03) non-active members and to
finalize the General Assembly agenda.

8.3.  Activities of the Organisational
Committees
8.3.1. Strategic Planning and
Environmental Committee (SPEC)
The SPEC members participated in the capacity
building program earmarked for Master Plan Study
from 21st — 25t January 2019, in Brussels. The
WAPP Secretariat also organized a meeting of the
SPEC in Cotonou from 2nd — 31 July 2019, to review
the report of the World Bank-sponsored study on
Battery Storage Applications on WAPP Power
System; on 4t July 2019, a meeting for the review
of the terms of reference for gauging of solar
resources within the continental States of ECOWAS
and on 5t July 2019, a consultation meeting with
the World Bank and the West African Climate
Alliance on Carbon Market Mechanisms and
Climate Finance.

The WAPP General Secretariat organized a
meeting of the Strategic Planning and
Environmental Committee (SPEC) on 28th
September 2018 in Cotonou to review and adopt the
WAPP draft Business Plan 2020-2023. The
Business Plan was submitted to the Executive
Council (EC) meeting of 5th October 2019. It was
validated by the EC and recommended for approval
by the General Assembly (GA) scheduled for
November 2019 in Abuja — Nigeria.

8.3.2. Finance Committee (FC)
Two Finance Committee meetings  were
respectively held in July and October 2019 in
Cotonou to consider the WAPP Financial
Statements for the year 2018 and the 2020 WAPP
Secretariat Work Programme and Associated
Budget.

The Finance Committee members participated in
the Joint Task Force Meeting with the EOC for the
review of the WAPP Power Exchange Rules.

In addition, the meeting of the Working Group on
Securitization of the Cross-Border Power

Exchanges of the ECOWAS Regional Electricity
Market was held in October 2019.

8.3.3. Human Resources and Governance
Committee (HRGC)
The HRGC met in Dakar in March 2019 and
Cotonou in July 2019 to consider the amendments
to the Staff Regulations and Code of Conduct of the
WAPP Secretariat.

. ¥ P
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Group photo of the Human Resources and Governance Committee

Working group

33



9. OPERATING STATISTICS OF WAPP

INTERCONNECTED POWER SYSTEM

- Current WAPP Interconnected Power System Characteristic Data

Year 2017 Year 2018 Year 2019 Ratio 2018 vs 2019
Installed Capacity 22,0 22,5 23,0 2,2
Available Capacity 14,3 14,9 13,4 -10,1
Peak Load 9,8 10,2 10,9 6,9
Energy Generated 62,4 67,5 69,7 3,3
Energy Exchanged 51 5,8 6,1 5,2
Ratio Energy Exchanged vs Generated 8,2 8,6 8,8
- Monthly Peak Load (MW)
PEAK LOAD
Year )17 Year 2018 Year 2019
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- Energy Exchange per Country
Import 2017 Export 2017 Import 2018 Export 2018 Import 2019 Export 2019
Nigeria 0,0 -2397,0 0,0 -3002,6 0,0 -2327,2
Cote d'lvoire 16,4 -1205,5 77,6 -1138,6 76,6 -1234,8
Ghana 328,3 -282,2 143,8 -636,4 136,7 -1103,3
Senegal 508,4 -85,5 338,2 -2,1 468,4 0,0
Burkina Faso 583,3 -0,1 783,4 -0,3 1024,7 -0,2
Niger 801,3 0,0 984,2 0,0 1048,8 0,0
Mali 998,5 0,0 1186,0 0,0 1302,2 0,0
CEB* 1855,3 0,0 2307,4 0,0 19929 0,0
SOGEM** 0,0 -1103,5 0,0 -1128,9 0,0 -1057,2
EEEOA 5091,5 -5073,8 5820,6 -5908,9 6 050,3 -5722,7

* CEB is a utility (belonging to Benin and Togo) and not a country

** SOGEM is a utility (belonging to the OMVS countries) and not a country
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10. CONCLUSION AND OUTLOOK FOR 2020

Over the past 12 months, the WAPP Secretariat has been selflessly and enthusiastically committed to achieving
the missions assigned to it and we are proud to affirm that great strides have been made. Noteworthy among
said strides are: the adoption - by the Heads of State and Government - of the updated ECOWAS Master Plan
for the Development of Regional Power Generation and Transmission Infrastructure, the adoption - by the
ECOWAS Council of Ministers - of the Directive on the Securitization of Cross-Border Power Trade and the
Formulation of the WAPP 2020-2023 Business Plan. We can equally cite the progress made on certain priority
projects’ sites: e.g. the WAPP Interconnected Power System Synchronization Project, ICC Project and CLSG
Project.

This performance is attributable to all stakeholders involved in the development of WAPP and the West African
power sector, notably the Technical and Financial Partners (TFPs), the ECOWAS Commission, the WAPP
member utilities which have, despite their difficult financial situation, continued to support the WAPP Secretariat
by ensuring regular payment of their contributions. Credit should also be given to all the staff members of the
WAPP Secretariat who have spared no efforts in carrying out the daily tasks.

In the year 2020, the WAPP Secretariat will continue to deploy, with the support of the abovementioned
stakeholders, every necessary effort towards the effective implementation of WAPP priority projects and
activities contributing towards the furtherance and efficient operation of the Competitive Regional Electricity
Market, and those geared at enhancing the technical, managerial and financial performance of WAPP member
utilities.

Accordingly, in 2020, the WAPP Secretariat shall ensure, among others, the achievement of the following main
specific objectives:

= Follow-up on the mobilization of funding for the implementation of pre-investment studies and priority
projects;

Prepare pre-investment studies for priority projects;

Organize a WAPP Investors Forum to facilitate the implementation of priority projects;

Follow-up on the implementation of the ICC Project in Calavi, Benin;

Coordinate and monitor the implementation of the Synchronization of WAPP Interconnected System;
Follow-up on the implementation of the Roadmap for the Regional Electricity Market;

Develop a Regional Network Code;

Organize a Forum on Power Distribution Loss Reduction and select bankable projects on reduction of
distribution losses;

Strengthen the capacities of WAPP member utilities and WAPP Secretariat staff;

Ensure the coordination of Technical and Financial Partners’ interventions;

Strengthen cooperation with the ECOWAS Commission;

Enhance technical cooperation and strengthen exchange programs with stakeholders, regional and
international institutions.

4433 43330330330

35



APPENDIX 1

2018 WAPP Financial Statements
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WEST AFRICAN POWER POOL
Annual Report
For the year ended 31 December 2018

REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

The Executive Board has the pleasure in submitting its report and the audited financial
statements of the West African Power Pool (WAPP) for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Statement of Executive Board's responsibilities

The Executive Board is responsible for the preparation of financial statements for each
financial year which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Organisation and
of the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year. In preparing these financial
statements, the Executive Board has selected suitable accounting policies and then
applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent and followed International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS),

The Executive Board is responsible for ensuring that the Organisation keeps proper
accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Organisation. The Executive Board is also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Organisation and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Going Concern

The Executive Board has made an assessment of the Organisation's ability to continue as
a going concern and have no reason to believe the Organisation will not be a going
concern.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Organisation are stated on page 10 of this report.

Financial results

The Statement of Financial Performance on page 6 shows a surplus of UA 8,851 (2017: UA
1,081,406 deficit) which has been transferred to accumulated fund.

Auditor

The auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers has expressed willingness to continue in office as
auditor of the Organisation.

BY ORDER OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD: u&mﬁl‘“" (- MOKAMME
Name: O, & ) Name:

- || i C Iwﬁi?_w\ﬁﬂ
Position: S. 6, Position:

Signature: Signature:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S RIFORT
TO THE EXECETIVE BOARD OF THE WEST AVRICAN POWER POGL

REFORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ohuer opinion

In our apinion, the secompanying financial stataments aive a true and fair view of the
financial pesition of the Wast African Power Pool {WAPP) as at 31 Dacember 2018 and of
ftz financial performancs and its cash flows for the year then ended In sccordance with
Intemational Publiec Sector Accounting Standarda.

What vae have audited

We have audited the finarcial statemants of the Weast Affican Power Pool {the
‘Organisation™) for the year anded 31 December 2014,

The financial staternents on pages & to 25 comprise;

the atatemant of financial pedermance for the year ended 31 Decernher 2018

the staterment of financial position as at 31 Decembar 2018

the statement of changes in net assefs for the year then ended;

the staternent of cash flows for the year then anded; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a surmmary of significant accounting
poiicias.

Basis for apinien

Ve conducted our audit in accordance with Intemational Standards on Auditing (1SA4s). Cur
respanslbities undar those standards are further described in the Auditor's respansibfiities
fer the audit of the finangial staterments zaction of our repart.

Ve balieve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropiste to
provicke & basis for our cpinisn.

indepandence

We ara independent of the Orpanisetioh in accordance with the internatismal Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants' Code of Ethiss for Professional Accountants [LESBA,
Code). We have fulfiled our other ethical responsibiiities in accordance with the IESBA
Coda.

Othar infermation

The Execulive Board i= regponsible for the other infarmstion. The other information
compriaes the Report of the Executive Board but does not include the financial statemerts
and our avditor's report therson,

Cur opinlon on tha financial stakements does not cover the gther informeation and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.




INDEPENDENT AUVIHTOR'S REPORT
TO THE EXECETTVE BOARD OF THE WEST AFVRICAN POWER POGL

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)

Dther information

In conrection with our audit of tha financial staterente, our responsibility |3 to read the
other information [dentified above and, in deing so. consider whather the giher infomation
iz materially incansistant with the fnancial statements or aur knowledne obtained in the
audit, ar otherwizsn appears ic be materially misstated If, based on the work we have
performed on the other infarnaiion, we conclude that there is @ material misstaterneni of
thia other information, we gra reguired to report that fast. We rave nothing fo report in this

reqard.

ﬁ&spnnsibflities of the Executive Board far the financial statements

The Executive Board is responsibla for the preparation of financizl statements that give a
true and fair visw in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting Standards
{IPSAZ) and for such infemal control as the Exscutive Board determines is necessary to
anable the preparation of financial stalemerts #hat are free from materia) trsstatemeant,
whethar dus te frawd or amrar,

In preparing e fAnancial statements, the Executive Board is razpensitle for azsessing the
Urganisation's ability to continue as a going soncern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounfing whless tha
Exzoulive Board intends to cease aperations, or hava no realistic alternative buk to do s,

The Exacutive Board is respongible for overseaing the financial repodting process.

Auditor's respensibilities for tha audit of (he financial siatements

Qur obxectives ara t¢ obtain reasonable assurence abowt whather the financial staternents
as 8 whole ars free from makerial misskaternent, whethar due to fraud or erfor, and to issye
an suditer's report that includes our opinion. Ressaonable assurance is 3 high level of
assurance, bwl is net a guarantee hat an audit condusted in zcoordanae with 1S4 will
always detect a meteral mizstatement when it axists. Misstatemsnts can arise from fraud or
error and sre considered materal if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonabhy
he expected to inffugnce the econemic decisions of ueers faken an the basis of thazg
finzncial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise crofagsianal judgement andg
maintain prefessional scesticism throughout the audit. We slsn:

« ldentify and assess the risks of mafedal misstalement of tha financlal statemants,
whather due to fraud or emor. design and parform asudit procedures responeive to thoas
rsks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and approoriate to provide & basis for
our opinien. The sk of not detecting a material misstatement resUlting from fraud iz
higher than for one resulting from eror, as fraud may invelve colusicn, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresantations, or the ovamride of intemal contral

+ Otain an understanding of internal cantrol refevant to the audit In ordsr to desion audit
proceduras that are appropriate in the circumstances, buk not for the purpose of
BXpressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal contral:




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE EXECUTIVE BOARD OF THE WEST AFRICAN POWER POOL

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Executive Board;

= Conclude on the appropriateness of the Executive Board's use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Organisation to cease to
continue as a going concern; and

= Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Executive Board regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Executive Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and have communicated with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is
Hayfron Aboagye (ICAG/P/1502).

@ima}dp&-& CAEU"-H
PricewaterhouseCoopers (ICAG/F/2019/028)

Chartered Accountants

Accra, Ghana
7 October 2019

.
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WLEST AFRICAN PIYWER POOL
Linanotal Statements
For the year ended 51 Davemiber 2018

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
{All amounts are exprassed in U4 unless otherwiza siated)

Ravenue
Ravaenue from exchange transactions
Revetue from non-axchange transackions

Total Revenue
Expanses

Fersonnel expenses

General expenses

Adminlstrative expenses

Executive Board and Committas Megtings

Expenses hefore depreciation, caplital
grants and impairment charge

Add: depreciation charges for the periad
Lass capital grants

Add Impainment charge

Total axpenaes

Mat finance expensa

Surplusldeflcit) for the yvear transferred to

acc:umulated fund

Nete

il

m - th on

Ha
Do

10

11

Year ended 31 December

2018

4,740,712
163,065

4 903,768

2342584
423,733
803,708

_ 519,168

4,788,185

53,392

241,837

295,330
3. 484 525

10,392

_ 8831

The nowes on pages 10-25 are an integral part of these financial statements.

]

2017

4,815,559
145 873

4.761.442

2,380,748
424 834
BEY.FTS

_B05.804

4.201.960

117 G2
{10181

1,054,425
1.161.574

2,253 833
208,018

11,081 408)




WEST AFRICAN POWER POOL
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(All amounts are expressed in UA unless otherwise stated)

MNon current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Current assets
Cash and bank balances
Receivables from exchange transactions

Recoverable from non-exchange transactions
Prepayments

Total assets

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable

Non current liabilities
Separation provision
Total liabilities

Net assets
Represented by:

Accumulated Fund

Note

Sa
Sb

12
13

14
15

16

17

At 31

2018

343,113
16,916

360,029

926,145
164,909

491,806

31721
1,614,581

1.974.61

288,37

ember
2017

423,856
16.916

440,772

1,096,510
278,395

258,342
46,957

1.680.204
2,120,976

480.159

5,697
35,856

1,585,118

1,585,118

The financial statements on pages 6 to 25 were approved by the Executive Board on

e 2019 and signed on their behalf by:

Name: Q:) i 'H ' V‘
Position: Q:;. {“J .
Signature:

Name: USMARN GU MotiAmm &0

Position: C HARMAN

Signature: @/

PRSP . 1, |




WEST AFRICAN FOWER POOL
Minaneicl Stoterremts
for the yeor erded 91 Decernber 2o d

STATEMENT OF CHANGES |N HET ASSETS
(Al amounts are expressed in UA unless otherwise statad)

Year endad Dacember 31, 2018
Accumulated fund

Balance af January 1, 20148 1,685,118
BUMHUS for the year g.851
Balance at December 31, 2018 1.593.9549

Year endad Dacember 31, 2017
Accurnutatesd fund

Balance at January 1, 2017 2,665,524
C=ficit for the year (1,081, 408]

Balance at December 31, 2017 1.5B5 118




WEST AFIKICAN POWER FPOOL
Finaneie! Slatoments
fior the yeur ended 21 December g0i8

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(All amounts are expressed in LA unless otherwise statad)

Year anded 31 Decemnber

Mote 2018 2017
Cash flows from qperating activities
Cash uzad infigensrated from} operations 18 (170, 365] 20616
Lash flows from investing ackvities
Purchase of property, plant 2nd aguipment o3 - 1235 57 AL
Net cash usad in lnvesting activities - {135.578)
Lecraase 1h cash and cash aquivalents (170 365) {114 5962}
Movament in cash and caah equivalents
Balance at beginning of year 1,096,510 1,211,472
C=creasa in the yvear {179,365} (114 982"
Balance at end of year 12 226,145 1.095,510




WEST AVRICAN POWER PO,
Finomcial Statements
For the year ended 41 Decernber 2018

MNOTES
General information — Background

The West Afrigan Power Pocl is a speciatisad institition of ECOWAS headyuartersd in the
Republic of Benin,

The Weest Afican Power Pool (WAPF) was craated by Decision A/DEC.S/42/00 during the
22nd Burmmit of tive Authority of EOOWIAS Heads of State and Governmen: in order ko
address the |ssue of power sugply deficiency within West Aftlca. The 26th Scemmit of the
Authonty of ECOWAS Heads of State and Governmant held in Miamey January 2006,
adopted the Aricles ¢f Agreement establishing the new WAPP Organisation by Daeision
ADEC 18106, The new Organisation began actual cperations in July 2008

WAPF'z mandate is to ensure the establishmert of a Regional Electsicity Market in Yast
Africa in order to provide tha citizens of the Community with inereased access to stakble and
teliable electricity supply at competitive costs,

Suramary of significant aceounting policies

The principal ascaunting policies applied in the preparation of these financial =tatements are
set out below, These policies have bean consisfertly applisd to all the years cresented,
unless ptherw|se stated.

21  Basis of preparation

The financial staternents have heen prepared under the histerical sost convention and in
acordance with International Pubfle Sectar Accounting Standards (PSAS).

In the absence of an Intermationaf Public Sector Atcounting Standard that spscifically
applies [e 8 transaction. other event of condition, manragemsent uses its judgement in
devaloping and apelying an accounting policy that resulis n information Ehat is relavant to
the declsicn-making naeds of usera that the financial statements:

(i} represent faithfully the financial position, fingncia) parformance and cash flows of the
entity;

(i) reflact the economic substance of transactions, other evente and conditions and not
thersly the legal fonn;

tiiiy are nendral, i.e., free from bias;

(B) are prudent; and

{v} are completa in all materlal respects.

The puiicies set out below have teen cansistently applied to all years presentad.
Changes in acvounting policy and disclosures

i1 New and amonded slandards that are nat yet effective and fave nof bean arapted by
the Qrgenisation

werain new PSASs and interpretations have been published that are not mendatory for 31
December 2B reporting periods and have not been eary adopted by ths Organisaticn in
preparng these financial statements. These are sat cut as folows:
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WEST AFRICAN IMIWER PCROL
Hinaneiol Siatvments
Forthe year eruded 21 December 2074

NOTES (CONTINUED)

Summary of significant atcounting policies {continued)
21  Basis of preparation {continued)

Changes in accounting poficy amd disclosures [continued)

£il el ane arnended stardards that are nol vel efective and have not bean adopted by
fhe Orgamlaalion fcontinued)

IPEAS 41 — Finangial Instruments

IFSAS 41, ‘Financial instruments’ veas issued by the Iftemetional Public Seetor Accountng
Standards Beard (IPSASB) in August 2018, IPSAS 41, Financial instruments, establishes
new requirements for classifying, recognizing and measwring financial instruments o
replace thosa in IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The
ahjective of IPSAS 41 is to establish principtes for the reporfing of francial assets and
financial liabilities that will present relevant and useful information to users of financial
statemanis for their asseasment of tha amaunts, timing and uncerainty of an eatily's future
cash flows,

IPSAS 41 provides mare useful informatian by

© Applying a gingle slassification and measuramant modsl for financial asseks that
considers the characteristics of the asset's cash flows and the objactive for which the
asset is hald;

n Applying & aingle forward-looking expected credit lose maodel that is applicablz to afl

financial instrumants subject to impairment feating; and

- Applyirg  an impreved hedge accourting model that broadens the hedging
arrangements in scope of the guidancs, The model develops a strang link between
an entity's rizk managament strategies and the accounting reatment for instruments
held a= part of the nsk management sfrakegy,

The new Financisl Instrumenis standard is effective for periods beginning on o after
January 1, 2022 with earlier adoption encouraged, IPSAS 41 is appliad ratrospectively in
accordenca with IPBAE 3, Actourting Policies. Change in Accounting Estimates 2nd Ermors
Hnless speclfic conditions are mat.

This standard has nol heen applied by the Organisation in oreparing its IPSAE finansial
stataments for the year ended 31 Decambar 2018,

IPEAS 47 — Socizl benefits

IPSAS 42, Sociat Benefits, was issued by the imtemational Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board (IPSASE) in Janwary 2019 The standard provides guidance an
accounting for social benefits expanditure, it defines social benefits as cash transfers paid
to specific individeals and/or households ta mitigate the affect of sacial risk.
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WESRT AFRICAN PFOVWERE POOT.,
Fiancie!l Srotertenls
Fur the year ended 3¢ Decernber 2018

NOTES (CONTINUED;

Summary of significant accounting policies {cantinued)
21 Basis of preparation {continued)

Changes In accounting policy and disclosures {continued)

{ll Mew and amended stanvards fhat are not yet effective and have mot baen adopted by
the Organisation foenlinved)

IPSAS 42 — Social banefits {continued)

Examples of =ocial bensfits include state retirerment banefits, disability benefits, incoma
suppart and unemployment benefits. FPSAS 42 seeks to imprave the refevance, faithful
represeniativeneas and comparahility of the Information that a. reparting entity provides in its
financial sfatements about sacial benefits.

The standard requires an entity to recognize an expenee and a liabilty for the next social
benefit payment. {PSAS 42 establishes the principles and requirements for the recognition
and measurament of expense and liabiiity for social payments and the presertation and
diaclosure raguirements. This standard is affective for financial statementz baginning on or
after 1 January 2022, Eary adaption iz permitted,

This standard is however not relevart to the operations and activities of the Organization
and have not Bagn applied by the Organisation in preparing I financial statements for the
yaar endad 31 Desamiser 204 5.

The Exsoutive Board is yet to assess the sull impact of the above standards on the
&rgantaation’s financial reporting.

There are no cther IPSAS intarpratations that are not yat effective that would be expected o
have a maerial impact on the organisation.

2.2 Foreign currencies translation
fa} Funclional and preseniafion currancy

lterns included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of thae prmary
BCONOMIC eMvironment in which the Organisation aperates (the functional currency which is
FCFA) The financial statemente are presented in Unit of Acsount [A} which is the
cresgntation cutrency of WaAPR.

(2} Trersactionsz and bafances

Transactiond dusing the periad are translated into the presentation cumensy, Unit of Account
(UA) using rates af the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and lisbilities denominated
in foreign cumencies at the reporing date are transiated into U4 at the rates of exchanpe
ruling =t that date. Gains or fosses realised ar incured are racognised in the statament of
finangial performance.
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WEST AFRECAN POAWER 04T
Inorial Statements
fior e year ended 31 December 2md

MNOTES (CONTINUED)
Summary of significant accounting policies {contihued)
23 Finangial instruments

Financial assels and fiabilitiss are recognized by WAPP when B2 Organisation becomes a
pary to the contractual provisions of Bhe instrurnant, Flhancial sssete ae derscognized
whan the rights fo receive cash flows from the asgets have expired, have besn waived or
heve been transierred and the Orpanisation has transfered subsiantially all fsks and
rewards of ownership. Financial fizbilities are derecognizad when the obligation spacified in
the contract is discharged, waived, cancelled or expired. Financial sssets and financial
liabrliitles are inidally recognised at fair valye,

(fl Clezsification

Financial assets and lFabilities have been recognised in the statarnant of financial Fosition
and measured it oocordance with their claseificeion. The classification of financial
instruments at inftial recognition depends en the putpose for which the finandial instruments
were acquired and their characteristics. At inifiad racognition, the Craanisalion classifi=s is
finansial instrements in the following categories:

Financial asselz

Sinancial a5sets et at amonised posts: These are assels measured aE fair vatus at initid
recognilion fess principal repayments plus accrued intersst, net of any impalmment |oes.
WAPP's financial azsets comprize cash at bank, receivablas fram exchange transactions,
recoverabile from non-exchange fransactions and prepayments ang are included in cumant
R55ets dua {o their short-term nature. These assefs are initially recognized at fair value fthe
arnount expected to be recaived) plus any transaction cost. and sebsequently measured at
ameortlzed cost using the effective ifterest method less any provision for impaiment.

Firanglal Nabilifies

WhFF's financial Habilities reprasent mainly account payabies and separation provision.
Thase are inltiatly recognised at fair value (the amount at which the abligation is expecked
W be setled} ingluting any direct transaction cost and subsequenBy measured at
amortized cost Using the affective Ihterest method. WAPF's financial lighilities ane
clagsified as current [iahilities if payment is within twelve maonths. Othenwiss they are
presented as non-guirent iabilities.

¥l Offsetting financial instruments

rinancial assets and lisbilifes are cffset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position when thers is 2 lagally enforceabte fgnt to offsat the recognised amounts
and there is an inlention to settle on a net basis or realise tha agset and settle the [rafility
simultaneouskty.

fii) Fair vaiue

Az at 3f Decernber 2018, the carrying amounts of financial assets and labilites held by
WAPP approximate their fair values,

-
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WTST AFRICAN POWER POOL
Finaneiad Statements
For the year ended 27 December 2018

HOTES {CONTINUED,)
Summary of significant accounting policies [continuad)
2.4  Property, Plant and Equipment

Propeaty, plant and equipment (PPE) are stated at acguisiion cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumylated impaimment losses.

Deprectalion is taloulated on the straight-line basis at ratas astimated to write off the cost af
each iterm gver e estimatad term of its useful life. A fulf yaar's depreciation is charged In the
year of acquisition. No dapreciation is charged in the year of dispo=al. The annusl rates used
for this purpose anre as foltows:

Corputers 25%
Equipmant 14.20%
Furpiture and Fixtures:

Residenca 33.33%

Qifica 25%
Yehicles 20%
Bullding 2.86%
impalrment

The camying values of PPE are reviewed for impairment i events or changes in
circumstanues indicate that they may not be recoverable, If any such indicaion existe, the
iecoverable amount of the asset is estimated i order to determine the sxtspt of the
rnpairment loss (if any}. Ay provision for impaimment is charged against the Statement of
Firancial Ferformance in the yesr in which tha impakmnent is idertifiad,

Gamns and losses on dispoesals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the CaIrying
amount and arg inclded in profit or loze.

2.5 Intangible acssety

Intangrble sssets mainly comprize of patented and non-patented technology, keow-how and
software.

Intangible assels acquired separately are maasured on initiaf recagnition at cost.

Following Initizl recagnition, intangikble assets are carded at cost less any ascumuiated
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

The carrying values cf intangibie asssts ars reviewed for indications of impaiment annually,
or the events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recoveralle, If any such indication sxists and whera ihe camving values excead the
estimated recoverable amounts, the asssts are writteh dawn ta their recovery amaount.

14




WEST AFRICAN POWER PO,
dMinancicd Slatements
For the jear ercded a1 Decernber 2018

NOTES (CONTINUED)
Summary of slgnlficanti accounting policies {continwaed}
25 Intangible assets fcontinued)

An intangibla 552t s derecosnissd upon disposal or when no futune scontomis behafis are
expactad [0 afse from the continued use of the assel Any gain or loss arsing on
terecognition of the intangible azsst (caloulated as the difference between the net disposai
proceeds ang the carrying amount of the intangible asest) is included in surplus or gefici
when the itangible asset |5 derecogised.

ntangible azzets with fintte lives are amortised over the useinl economic life. Useful lives

and methods of amorezations are reviewed, adjusted if appropriate. at each financial year-
end. The annuat rate wsed ior this pupose is as foliows:

Softwara 25%

2.8 Accounts receivablas from exchange transactions

Recetvebies are stated at their nominal value as raduced by appropriate allowancas far
eetimatad frrecoverafle amounts or fosaes. Allowance for loss is esiabliched based on a
review of sutstanding amounts at the reporting date in accordance with the below policy
developed by the Finance Committea and approved by the Executive Board.

Frovision for doubth dalts

Evalugtion of the financial situation of all members before seling the -appliceble
pErcentages betow:

« 100% peovision for fhe oategory of members in fingnciat difficelty with claims
{recervables) of twe ar mara years.

» 40% provision for the catagery of members wha have one year old recsivables.
» 2% provision for regubar mambers in the payment of their arears.

2.7 PRecoverabie from non-exchange transacfions

Fecoyvarable froth non-exchange transactions are recognized af fair value {the amount
expected to be received) less any proviston far Impairment,

2.8 Tash and cash sguivalents

For the purposes of the cash Jow statement, cash and cash eguivalents includa cash in
hand ard deposits heid ab call with banks.




WEST AFRICAN FOWTR POOL
Finetnewaf Stafemerntts
For the year ended 310 Decembar 2018

NOTES (CONTINUELS
Summary of signiflcant accounting policies {continued)
2.9  Employee benaflts

WAPF' s contribution to stad (except the Secretary General) retirament benefit echemes are
reseanised in the statement of financial petformance as the obligation falls dus. The
schema consists of a monthly contrbution of 179 of amployeas’ basle salany as g=nsion
fund by the amployer.

WAPR sets aside 254 of the Secretary General's annual salary to cater for his sacarafon
payment at tha end of his service peried. This is recognisad in the statements of fnancial
rerfomeance annualfy,

2.10 Provizion

Frovision for abilities and chares are recogrigsed when WAPP has a present legal or
constructive ehligation a5 a reautt of a past event, and it Is probabfe that WAPF will be
required [ sgfle the obligation. Provisions are messyred at maragements' best sstimate of
the expenditure requirsd to settle the obligation at the date of the Statemant of Financial
Peaition.

211 Leasas

Assets leased to or from third parties under agreemerts, which do not transfer substantially
afl the risks and rewards of ownershig, are clazsified gy cperating leases. The Organlsation
iz anly involyed in operafing lease arangements where i leasas s asseks o third pertles or
leases ms=eta from third parfies. Rantal expenss from leased assets of 1Rir parties arg

recegnised in the statement of financial peformance on & straight-line basis over the et
of tha [zase.

2.12 Revenue recognition

Reverva from exchanga trattsactions

Contdbutions from member utifities

Aszessed confributions fram member utilities are recognisad when they arg approved by
the Executive Board. Unpaid sontributions durlng the period are recognised as receivables
after netting off any pravisions.

Fevenus from nor - oxchange frensaciions

Grants from dunora

Cangr grants are recognized as revenue to the axtent they are used to meet expendituras
in the reporting pericd. Unused grant income is recorded as liakifify {deferred income).

Cash donations are recognised as income in the statement of Ainancial performance when
received.
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WEST AFRECAN POWER IFO)T.
Financial Stataments
o the year ended 31 Decentber 2078

NOTES (CONTINUEDY
A4l amounts are axpressed in LA unless ofherwise stated)

Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

2.3 Expenses

Ezpenses are racoghised when the transaction or event causing the expense accurs. The
Oroanisation's sxpenzes consist of personnel expenses, general expansas, adatnisrative
expense and @xecutive board and cormmittes meeiings expenscs,

Revenue from exchange transacfions

Lontributions from members

This represents sszessed contrlbutions from member ublities approved by the Exscutive
Board. An amaunt of UAd 740,713 was recognized at fhe year anded 31 Dacembar 2018

(2017:LIA 4,515,560,

Revenua fram non- exchange transactlons

Grant= from doners

This represents financial assistance recsived from donors in cash to suppert WAPP
Secrelarat during the vear, An amount of LA 183 055 was recognized at the wear ended 31

Decermber 2018 (2017:LIA145 B73).

Ferzonnel expenses

Ltaft salaries

Salary for cantrackors and temporary staff
Initial trevel and accommodation

Refund of school fzes

Cthar gxpenses

Pension fund contributlens and contractars
qratuity

Separation provisian jor 33

Medical expenszes

Training Costs

17

2013

1,053,349
290,169
42, 306
220,517
483,391

183,342
20,135
25,463

13832
342,604

2007

1.047 454
264 020
5113
053,206
g12,731

165,097
20,135
34 711

75.272




WEST AFYRICAN POWER FPOOH.
Financtod Statemants
For the year ended 37 Decernber 2018

NOTES {CONTINUED}

Al amounts are exprezsed in LA unless otherwisa stated)

Gonaral expenses

Administration Expenses
Rapaira and dlainfenanca
Utility Expenees

Rent

Transpaortation

Audit Fees and expenses
Legal feas

Consultancy services
Software licanses

Luzs on Dispoeal of Mor-gurrent Asset

Adminisfrative expenses

Fublic Relations, Publicity and Adverts
Fostages and Communications
CMficial Missions

Conference materials

Linguigtic Services

Entertatnrnant! reception! retreats
Racnsifment

Tecanicgl Coow with InternaBonal
Qrgarizations

Execitive Board and Commiittee aupenses

Execufive Board Meetings
Engingering and Cperating Commites
Meetings

Stralegic Planning and Environmental
Coemmittes Westings

Firance Committes Mestings

Human Regcurces and Sovemancs
Comrnittes Mesatings

Distribution and Commersial Committes
Vehicles purchased for Executiva board

18

2018 2017
95,343 75,581
73,223 Y
17,617 27 162
35,023 23,313
87,720 rOAT1
25,049 £ 0654
12,634 37,579
22 TEd4 Ar. Ifa
27 008 15,318
27,350 33421

423,733 434534
71,086 150,236
74,830 71806

491,308 585,332

243 3,885
48,291 4% 07
10:3,364 69 &31
630 2,441
20,247 25 502

803 708 967773

163,452 178,688

117,926 77 381

183,342 211,619

118,483 44 712
22 BAZ 25,802
13,123 15,777

- E2, 745
519,159 508, B04




WEST AFRICAN POWTER, POOL
Finanoial Slelerments
For the year eruled 51 December 2014

NOTES (CONTINUED;
(& ampunts are expressed in LA unless othenaise stated)

a. Property, plant and eguipment

Year ended 21 Computers Equlpmsnt Maotor  Buifdings

Decamber 2048 and Vehiclos Total
Furniture

Cost

At 1 January 216,772 108,482 573,646 335481 1,234,041

Pisposals - - {45,58:8) - {45 584)

At 31 December 216772 108462 528,062 335161 1,188,457

Accumnulated depraciation

At 1 January 206,40% 82,321 454 421 67,03z 810,184

Change for the year 10,363 8,536 26818 9,676 53,293

Bisposals - {1B.233) - {18,223}

At 31 Decarnker 26772 88,859 462 105 76607  f45.0d44
Met ook amoent at

31 Becemhber 20118 18,603 64,956 258 554 5113

Year endad 31 December  Computers  Equipment Mator Euildings

2017 amnd Vahiclas Total
Fumitura

Coat

At 1 January 216,772 108 462 473 844 3351681 1,140, 255

Additions - - 135,578 s 135,578

Cisposzals - - (41,778 - {41,778

At 31 December 218572 108.462 575 846 335,161 1234041

Assumulated depragiation

AL Januery 185046 T5. 788 389 458 &7 456 718, 745

Charge for the year 10,3632 £,535 73318 D578 99,793

Dizsposals . - (8,355 - (83 355)

At 31 December 206400  B2323 484470 703 810184

Maf boot amount at

31 December 2017 10,363 26139 1926 298178 423883
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WEST AFRICAN POWER POOL
Financial Stoaterments
For the year ended 21 Decembar poid

NOTES (CONTINUED)
(Al amaunts are sxpressed in LIA unjess otherwise stabed)

k. Intangibla Assets

As atthe yaar anded 3t December 2018, the Intangible assate were fully amortised. Tha
armaunk of LA 16,576 recognisad relates to capital work in progress in respect to the partial
installation of an electronic filing system and Sunsystems upgrade for WAPP. This is Aot
amortlsed, a3 azset is nol vet ready for usa.

c. Capital Grants

The capital grants have been fully amortizad ouver the useful life of the related assets in the
year 2018, (2017 (A1 180 waes the remaining balanse amartisad).

Impalrment charge
This represents provision for member cortricition receivables as af sach year end. An

arnourt  of UA (249 937) was recognized at the vear ended 31 December 2018
(ZD17:LIALT, 054 4297

Met finange expense

2018 ao7
Bank Imtereat® {18,608) {24,506
Bank chargas 2,312 1,704
Exchange rats difierences losses) 426,686 313 867

418397 288.015

* Bank imterast | This refates o interest samad on the sccounts cragfed far the fived deposits
of the Fecretary Ganeral's separafion pavmant & the end of his sendies pariod as well as fived
depoaff for payment of sfaf salgriss,

Cash and bank balances

Cash at bank 920,233 1,085, 735
Cazh on hamg _ 582 i 12

026,145 1.095 510

Recelvables from exchange transactions

Mernbers' contricufion recevable 2,688 685 2.505 SER
Franvvigion fur doubtful debts 2,561,029 319 o0

127,636 2AG 495
Staff advances L af2rs 31 gas

=. 164909 __278,395
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WESTAFRICAN POWER POOL.
Finanaigl Slatenents
For the year ended 21 Decesnber 2008

WOTES [CONTINUED)
£l amounts are expressed in WA unless otheswise stated)

Recovoerabie from non - guchange fransactions

These are expenses incumed on vanious doner furded prafects which are yet to be rafinded

o WAPE.
218 2017
Esowas Guinea Bigsau Project 5,256 5,375
Ecowaz Guinea Canakry Projad 11,013 11,261
World Hank Projects 31,7 27,204
Morth Core 11,650 11,822
Other Projectz 432174 202 480
Prepayment
Ineuransce 2210 g 893
Rent 12 480 12,378
internet 16,034 24 ABG
1,721 46957
Accounts payables
Auditors Remuneration 16,455 8,055
Dtharg* 281,918 472 104
208373 480,158
= Cdirars, this includes payables ko Benin telecom, syfversys conRgLlting, omed vavage,
aftival emang others for various services rendered fo WAPS,
Separation provigion
Balanve as at Januany 1 a5,697 30,766
Charga arel interest for the year 28,571 24 531
Balance as at 31 December B2 268 55 847

2t
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WEST ATRICAN POWER FFOM)T.
Financtal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

NOTES [CONTINUED)
Al amounts ara expressed in UA unless otharwise stated)

Cash generated from operations

Note
Met surplusi{daricit) for the vear
Adjustmente for non-cash items:
Depreciation of tangible assefs and
amortizafion of intangible azsets s and §b
Amortisation of capital grant Bc

Lass an disposal of fixed asssts

Changes |n working capital:

Decreasel (increasza) in Receivables from
&xchange transackons

Dacraase! (Increase) In Racoverable from
nun-exchange trangactions

Dacrease (iherease) in Prepayrments

Degieass M accounts payables
Increase i separabion provision

Cash used in{generated from) operations

Related party transactions

a. Directors remuneration

2018

B.851

53,383

27,350

113,48
{233,464)
15,236

{181,7E8)

26,571
{170,365]

2017

(1,081, 408)

117 B25
(10,180)
33,421

09254
123,535
{7,797

(1B3.764)

24 932

<. 818

Those in charge of govsrmance for West African Pewer Pool (WAPP) is ihe Exacutive Board
ag indleated on page 1. Members of the baard are entitted to paymsent af honararia and ofer
travel ralated expenses when participating In WARF mesiings or any other WAPP business.

B Ramuneration of key managament personnel

Except the Secrefary Genecal who is remunarated by the organisation, no othar bogrtd
mamber rzeeived 2ny remunaration or Joans other than the above entitlements during tha
yE@r under review, For the year under review, the Secratary General's total emolument was

LA 81 182 (2017 Ua 91,187}
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WEST AFRICAN PIPVWTER PLHM,
Finanrinl Statenents
For the yoar engfga_d_;g_r_ Qe_c_er_?_a_her_izmﬁ

NOTES (CONTINUED)
(AN amounis are expressed in UA unlese otherwise stabed)

Financial risk management

The Crganisation's activities expose it to & variety of financial risks: credit rigk, liquidiy rizk
and market risk.

Tna Crganisation's overall risk managerment programme focuass on minimising the
potential adverse effects on i financial performance. Financial rigk managsment is
overseen by the Finance Commitiee. The Organisation does not hedge any of its risk
EXDOZUMES.

201  Credi rigk

Credit risk arises from cash and caszh eguivalants and dapozite with banks and finansial
nstituticns as wedl as credil exposures o sustomers, including outstanding recelvebles and
curnfititted transactons. Credik risk is the sk that a covrterparty will defzulk on its contrackual
obligations resulting in fnancial loss to the Organisation.

The Organisation’s maximum exposurs ta credit fisk at the and ¢f he reporting date is a5
follows,

31 Docember 2018 31 Bocembar 2017

ua LIA
Cash and bank balances 428,145 1,086 511
Recaivatdes from axchange
transaciions 164,802 278,385
Recgverahle from nan-sxchange
transacdons 91,806 238,342
Frepayments #M,734 46,957
1,614,681 1,580,204

YWAPP manages ita exposure to credit fisk by:

e Halding bank balznces and short-termn deposits (demand deposits) with reputable
banking insttutions registered in The Republic of Benin; and
v Nlaintaining credit control procedures over aooolnts receivable.

The Qrganization has no credit rigk axposures refating to off balance shest itams.

WAPFPF does nof require any collateral or security o support financial instniments amd other
receivables i holds due to the law risk associgted with tha realisation of these instrumeants.
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WEST AFRICAN POWER PO1I.
Finanetal Statemterls
For the year ended 31 Decontber 2028

NOTES (COMNTINUELD,
(Al amourts gie expressed in LA unless otherwiza stated)

2002 Llguidity risk

Liquidity risk iz khe rizk fhat tha Organlsation will not be able to meet its financial abligabons
2z they fall due. The Organisation manages liguidity risk by maintaining adeguate cash
rasErves.

2.3 Market risk

The Organisation takes on exposure to market nsks, which is tha fsk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will flustuate because of changes in market prces.
Marxat risks anse fram apen positionz in inferest rate, cumrensy and equity products, all of
which are exposad to general and specific market movemanie and changes in the kevel of
volatility of market rates or prices such as interast rates, foreign exchange rates and aquity
prices, The objective of markst risk measurement is 1o manage and cortrol markst sk
exposures wilhn acceptable hmits while oplimising the reterr on sk, The management is
responsible far the developmant of detatled nsk management poficies and for day-to-day
impleyrentaticn of those polizies.

20.3.1 Foreign exchange risk

Fersign exchange risk i the sk that the fair value or fulure cash flows of a financial
instrurnent wil Futtuste becavse of changes in foreign exchange rates. The pesitionz of
aurrencies held are monitcred on a regular basis, The objective of monitoring e pesition in
foreign cumancy is & manage forsign exchange risk dus to movernenis in mates.

WAPF operates separate bank atcounis in CFA and USH cumencies, WAPP Inours currency
fisk. a5 & result of the conversion of foreign eurrency balances held in these ank accounts ta
LIA at period end. The cumengy sk associated with this balance is considersd minimal and
tharsfora WAPP does not hedge iks foreipgn currency sxposure, Fareign eurency transactons
are translated io UA at exchange rates gk the dates of the transachions,

20.3.2 Intarest rate risk

Irterast rats risk is the expasure of current and future eerings 1o adverse changes in the lavel
aof interest rates, The Organisation does not held any financial instrement subiect i interest
rate righ.

20.3.3 Prica rigk

Thi Crganisaton does net hold ary financial instrument susjest to price fsk.
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WESTAFRICAN POWER I"OWBL
Finanoial Statermends
Far the yenr ended 32 Decernber 2018

NOTES (CONTINUED)
(Al amoums are axpressed in LA unless cthenvise stated)

Capital commitments
Thete were no capital commitments at 31 Decembear 2018 (2017 kil
Contingent liablitizs

The following ongoing legat cases have been dizclosed as contingert abilitiss at 29
Cecember 20F8 {2017 not disclosecd),

- diamissal.
- After a court hearing an 18 May 2018, thiz caze has baen put

. 2019,

Legnl Case A FPoasihle finenciel
[ impact :
Case 1 ; L&52,108,058

This case was requestad on 23 fanuary 2018 by a former staff
againzt WAPP for alleged wrengful dismissal. He requested to
ke pald numerous rights and damages Jor aleged unfair

under datibaration for a decision to be made on 30 October

Casa 7 R FOFCA 142,165,130

A former Adrminsatratbre Assiatant at the WAPF Genoral
Secretarigt. dismizsed for groes professional missonduct,
brought his former amployes \WAPP befors the Court of Justice
of the Economic Community of West Amcan States (ECOWAR)
in Abujs, in order fo be instructad to pay him various faes and
damages.
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WEST AFREICAN POWER POHOL
Fingrocicl Stelemeris
bor the pear ended 20 December 2028

Presentation of Budgat Infermation in Financlal Statements
Basis of raparation

The budget informaiion has been preparad an a cash basis gince 1 is the policy of WAPP ta
apply thia cash basis of accounting for its budgets durtng ha fiscal year.

an tha ather hand. ke Anancial staternents have een prepared on eccrual basis of
accounting. The accrual bagis of acocunting i one under which transactions. other events
g cuhdllions are recognised when they ocour (and not only when cash ot ite eguivalant is
receined ar paidy. Tharafore, e concap! resoghises revenus when earned and expenses
wheh incurrad,

Hey aasumplions includa:

- Funding avsilahle throughout the petipds
- Memiser utilties Wikl pay their sontributions regulady

Budget Approval

YAFF'E highest decizion making body ie tha Genaral Assembly which provides the overall
strategic direction of the inatitution and adaption of Executive Board's raparis,

The functiching of WAPF is entrusted to the Executive Board whose functions inglude:
‘Exarination and racommandalton to the General Assamibly, the entry, exit and re-entry of
Members 10 the Pael, suthorisation of major contracts, Approval or revision of the operating
and capital budgets and any addiional sxpesditure and approval of sudit reports ameng
uthers, The Exscutive Board reviews, approves ar disapproves actiong of the various
Crrganisational Committess of WARP.

Tha approval of the Budget by the Executive Board and ifs adopdion at tha Seneral Azsembly
empowers tha Secretariat through the Segretary General), sublest to any spesial conditions
1o

v Commit and authanise expendifure and ta make all payments to be torne by the
Dirganisafion. for the purposes azsigned and within tha limits of the apprapiations and
the commitment autiorty, as the case may be; ard

& Provide the Executive Boam with ronthly budget and variancs for review and
approval.




WEST ATRICAN POWER FPOOL
Ftnamncial Skafements

For the year ended 31 Decermber 2018

Comparison of budget and actual - WAAP as at 31 December 2018

Intraduction

WAPP's financial statemarts are prepared on accrual basis whilst the budget iz on cash
hasis, The Statement of Financial Position, Steternent of Financial Peformance, Statemeant of
Changasz in MNet Azssts and Statement of Cash Flow Staternznts are prepared on a il
acerlat basis. The financial statarnants and the budget are therefore preparad using different

basiz,

To enabia users and funders derive the nesded benefit and make this presentstion useful,
management has decided o present 2 budgetfactual comparisen. This form of presantation
&s indicated is to @nsure management achieves tha reporting raquirermsrt of IPSAS 24 and
also meet the neads of stakeholders within the Pool for effective decision making.

The approved budget for the expense categorias outlined helow covers the fiscal period 1
January to 31 Dacamber 2018,

Budpeatl’ Actual analysls for the year under review

The tudget and actual analysis of WAPP iz presentad below.

- DESCRIPTION BUDGET | ACTUAL |VARIANCE | VARIANCE COMMENTE {far
! ' budget overruns
| OF Non-
L : hudgeted)
LA (. A Yo '
e {1} @ (32 | (=
Operating
Revenue
Excess of LAZ2k
contribution
Contibutlen frem earned than
mefnbars 4718862 | 4.740,713 | (21,851} {0.5%% budgeted.
Grants - 163,055 (163.055) |- A
Operating
Expenges o -
Peraonnel ' : M. eRpendiure
Expenses 2813383 |2.342,584 ' 270780 0% _within budgat
' " WA, expenditure
General Expanses | 436,007 | 423733 | 12564 3% | within budget




WEST AFRICAN POP'WER I"OOL

Fimaneial Stalertenls

For the year ended 3¢ Decemnber 2018

DESCRIPTION BUDGET | ACTUAL |VARIANCE VARIANCE | COMBMENTS (for
budget overruns
of non-

R ... | budgeted)
LA A iy o
o 1 (2 Ei=ti-2) 1 {=i3) (1) —
| 1
Adriinistrative 715564 | B02.708 (98 55 (121% B
Expanzes _ _
- Executive .
" BoardiComimittes NiAexpendiure
| Mastings . 783 a4 A18,164 164 475 Z1% within budget
" MiA, no capital
_ expendlture
CAPEX 170,184 - - 170,164 100% - incurred
|

TQTAL Crvarall 89% af

DPERATING AND the budgeied

CAPITAL axpandifure was

EXPENSES 4,718,862 | 4,189,195 | 529,667 19% astuatly incurred.

Explanations of slgniflcant deviations

& - Grant income from prior years sarmeag.

B - Incraass in administrative expenses was a result of additional activities in respect the
finalisation of ECCWAR Master Plan for the development of regianat power generation and
transmission infrastructure 2018-2033, intensifiad awarensss creatlon among Member
Utilifes and other stakeholders of the newly launched WAPRE Electricity Markat, and
tncrease in capacity building of the Infermation and Coerdination Center Deparment
tewards the cperationalisation of the WAPP ragional lectriclty maket.




